# Patient Benefit and Quality of Life after Robot-Assisted Head and Neck Surgery



Author Timon Hussain

#### Affiliation

Department of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, University Hospital Essen, University of Duisburg-Essen, Germany

#### Key words

quality of life, transoral robotic surgery (TORS), oropharynqeal cancer, therapy de-escalation

#### **Bibliography**

Laryngo-Rhino-Otol 2022; 101: S160–S185 DOI 10.1055/a-1647-8650

#### **ISSN** 0935-8943

© 2022. Thieme. All rights reserved.

This is an open access article published by Thieme under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonDerivative-NonCommercial-License, permitting copying and reproduction so long as the original work is given appropriate credit. Contents may not be used for commercial purposes, or adapted, remixed, transformed or built upon. (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/)

Georg Thieme Verlag KG, Rüdigerstraße 14, 70469 Stuttgart, Germany

#### Correspondence

Priv.-Doz. Dr. med. Timon Hussain Department of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology Head and Neck Surgery University Hospital Essen University of Duisburg-Essen Germany (Chair: Prof. Dr. med. S. Lang) Hufelandstr. 55 45147 Essen Germany timon.hussain@uk-essen.de

#### ABSTRACT

Robotic systems for head and neck surgery are at different stages of technical development and clinical application. Currently, robotic systems are predominantly used for transoral surgery of the pharynx and larynx. Robotic surgery of the neck, the thyroid, and the middle and inner ear is much less common; however, some oncological and functional outcomes have been reported. This article provides an overview of the current state of robotassisted head and neck surgery with a special emphasis on patient benefit and postoperative quality of life (QoL). The focus is placed on the role of transoral robotic surgery (TORS) for the resection of oropharyngeal carcinomas. For this application, reported long-term outcomes show functional post-operative advantages for selected oropharyngeal cancer patients after TORS compared to open surgery and primary radiotherapy. Since TORS also plays a significant role in the context of potential therapy de-escalation for HPV-positive oropharyngeal cancer patients, ongoing trials are presented. Regarding the evaluation of the therapeutic benefit and the QoL of cancer patients, special attention has to be paid to the large degree of variability of individual patients' preferences. Influencing factors and tools for a detailed assessment of QoL parameters are therefore detailed at the beginning of this article. Notably, while some robotic systems for ear and skull base surgery are being developed in Europe, TORS systems are mainly used in North America and Asia. In Europe and Germany in particular, transoral laser microsurgery (TLM) is a well-established technology for transoral tumor resection. Future trials comparing TORS and TLM with detailed investigation of QoL parameters are therefore warranted and might contribute to identifying suitable fields for the application of the different techniques.

#### Contents

1	Introduction
2	Head and neck cancer patients' therapy benefit and quality of life
2.1	Definition and influencing factors
2.2	Most important quality of life parameters
2.3	Assessment of quality of life parameters
3	Robot-assisted surgery of the head and neck: state of the art
3.1	DaVinci and FLEX system

3.2	Other robotic assistance systems	7
4	The role of TORS in the treatment of oropharyngeal cancer	8
4.1	Peri- and postoperative complications and side effects of TORS	8
4.1.1	Postoperative bleeding	9
4.1.2	Dysphagia	9
4.2	Surgery for oropharyngeal carcinomas: TORS vs. open resection	9
4.3	TORS vs. primary radiotherapy: oncological outcome and quality of life	11

4.4	Role of TORS in therapy de-escalation for HPV positive oropharyngeal carcinomas	13
5	Special indications for TORS in the oropharynx: workup of cancers of unknown primary and treatment of obstructive sleep apnea	14
5.1	Cancers of unknown primary	14
5.2	Obstructive sleep apnea	15
6	Role of TORS for interventions in the larynx and hypopharynx	15
6.1	Supraglottic and glottic laryngeal carcinomas	15
6.2	Hypopharyngeal carcinomas	16
7	Further application of robotic surgery in the head and neck	17
7.1	Salivary glands and neck surgery	17
7.2	Ear surgery	17
8	Conclusion	18
	Conflict of Interest	18
	References	19

### 1 Introduction

Randomized controlled trials are routinely performed prior to clinically establishing new non-surgical diagnostic and therapeutic procedures such as instruments used in radiology or new medications. Complex and innovative surgical procedures, however, are typically first tested in specifically selected patients so that the usual criteria of evidence-based medicine cannot be not met from the outset. Discussions are ongoing to which extent and at which time point new surgical procedures have to be evaluated before they can be accepted as standard therapy [1]. But there is a broad consensus that a thorough evaluation of their benefit compared to alternative procedures and their long-term outcome after application is essential for the patients. Robotic systems for head and neck surgery have been in use for nearly two decades allowing for a review of long-term therapy outcomes. In the following article, different robotic systems and applications for robotic head and neck surgery are reviewed with an emphasis on the potential patient benefit.

The specific definitions of the terms "patient benefit" and "quality of life" in the context of robotic head and neck surgery are variable and depend on the anatomic region of application as well as technical specifications of the robotic system. Technologically, the spectrum of robotic systems ranges from simple support systems which are guided by the surgeon's own hands to complex tele-operated systems with hands-off effector tools or even completely autonomous systems which perform procedures independently after specific programming. A first-generation robotic system was used over 30 years ago by American neurosurgeons who biopsied brain tumors with a modified industrial robot with manipulators of several degrees of freedom [2]. The actual biopsy was acquired manually but the precision was increased by positioning the biopsy needle with the so-called PUMA (programmable universal machine for assembly). Patients were expected to benefit from more precise tissue specimens and reduced iatrogenic trauma. Todays' mostused robotic system in head and neck surgery is much more complex. The tele-operated DaVinci system (Intuitive Surgical, Sunnyvale, USA) was developed in the early 2000s and is well-established for clinical use at this point. Besides potentially increasing surgical precision, the tele-operated effector tools and camera systems

allow for a transoral approach to the pharynx and larynx, hereby avoiding a more invasive external access. First results of the clinical application of transoral robotic surgery (TORS) with the da Vinci system were published in 2006 [3-7], and showed the system's potential to completely resect tumors of the base of tongue. Compared to alternative therapeutic options, patients benefited from complete tumor resection via a less traumatic approach, hereby preserving postoperative function. Accordingly, TORS is the main application of robotic technology in the head and neck and is routinely used for the resection of pharyngeal and some laryngeal carcinomas. Here, the key parameters for the definition of patient benefit and quality of life are related to the oncological outcome and the preservation of specific functions such as swallowing and speaking. However, despite numerous technological developments such as improved camera technology or space-saving effector tools, to date robot-assisted surgeries have only been established as standard therapy for selected cases and in certain regions of the world. In the US in particular, these include the aforementioned transoral robotic resection of oropharyngeal tumors. The increasing incidence of oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinomas (OPSCC) associated with the human papilloma virus (HPV) is clearly the driver of a paradigm shift from open surgical approaches or primary radiotherapy towards potentially less invasive TORS [8, 9]. HPV-associated OPSCC show a much-improved response to both surgical and non-surgical therapy compared to non-HPV-associated OPSCC. Improved survival in mostly younger and overall healthier patients has put forward quality of life considerations [10, 11]. Consequently, innovative surgical technologies which could potentially improve patients' quality of life such as TORS were promoted. Notably, there are pronounced regional differences regarding the use of TORS. While TORS is well-established in the US for OPSCC surgery, data from Germany and Europe is scarce. In German in particular, transoral laser microsurgery (TLM) has been well-established since the 1980ies it is commonly used as an alternative to open surgery for the transoral resection of pharyngeal and laryngeal carcinomas [12]. In the US, TLM was never as well-established as alternative to open surgery or primary radiotherapy and in many centers, TORS was the first transoral surgical technology to be adopted. Accordingly, long-term study results from the US have been published regarding the oncological benefit and functional quality of life after TORS; however, any direct comparison with TLM is difficult because the techniques are rarely applied at the same institution.

The following article will attempt to provide an overview regarding the potential patient benefit and post-operative quality of life after robotic surgery for OPSCC as well as other areas of head and neck surgery. This includes the use of robotic systems for transoral tumor resection in the larynx and hypopharynx where the DaVinci system and the FLEX system (Medrobotics Corporation, Raynham, USA) are routinely used. In Asia, the DaVinci robot is also used for neck surgery, thyroid surgery, and salivary gland surgery via external approaches. First clinical results regarding the application of alternative robotic systems for ear surgery have been reported by French and Swiss groups. Depending on the field of application, the definitions of patient benefit and quality of life may differ; in nononcological surgery, aspects of organ-specific function as well as aesthetics play a dominant role.

Nevertheless, the resection of malignant tumors is currently the main application of robotics in head and neck surgery. Therefore, at the outset of the article, the definitions and methods of assessment of patient benefit and quality of life in the context of oncological diseases of the head and neck are presented, followed by a short overview of the current state of robotic technology. It should be noted that any definition of therapy benefit depends on perspective; individual patients may have different priorities than other affected individuals or than their treating therapists, depending on their age and life situation. Individually defined quality of life considerations therefore contribute to the individual patient's therapeutic benefit and may influence therapy decisions. Knowledge about the preferences of specific patient groups is therefore desirable for both pre-therapeutic counseling and post-therapeutic assessment. Assessing the respective quality of life parameters is challenging and various tools have been developed in recent years, which will also be presented at the beginning of the article.

### 2 Head and neck cancer patients' therapy benefit and quality of life

#### 2.1 Definition and influencing factors

The value of a medical therapy is usually defined by the parameters "efficacy" and "therapy cost" over the total duration of therapy [13]. However, in the therapy of malignant diseases, the "efficacy", i.e. the therapy response, is often dependent on the intensity and invasiveness of the therapy, which in turn may negatively influence post-operative quality of life. The assessment of the final therapeutic outcome for the patient, i.e., the "patient benefit," may therefore differ substantially between individual patients. The same can be said for therapists. Discrepancies between the therapy goals of head and neck cancer patients and treating physicians were impressively demonstrated in the 1980s: While treating physicians almost consistently preferred the therapy with the greatest chance of cure, McNeil and colleagues demonstrated that for some patients with laryngeal cancer, preserving speech function was more important than maximizing their potential life quantity, i. e., their statistically remaining life expectancy [14]. Up to 20% of patients interviewed in the study indicated that they would prefer organpreserving nonsurgical therapy to total laryngectomy despite up to a 30% lower chance of permanent cure. More recent data confirmed these data and showed that a certain proportion of patients affected by laryngeal carcinoma would be willing to accept significant statistical losses in statistical survival for organ preservation and thus preservation of natural speech [15–17]. This is an extreme example, as total laryngectomy has a high impact on patients' life circumstances; usually, cure and survival are the highest priorities for head and neck cancer patients [18]. Apart from the fundamental question of quality of life vs. quantity of life however, quality of life parameters can vary widely depending on the disease or individual patient characteristics. They have been studied in detail in recent years. For example, patient age influences the weighting of qualitative and quantitative endpoints, as do socioeconomic differences [18].

The interpretation of respective trials on QoL preferences of cancer patients is highly complex because these may also change intra-individually over the course of the disease. Among other things, the timing of the patient interview in relation to the therapy, the individual therapy response and technological developments associated with a changed spectrum of side effects were identified as influencing factors on the respective preferences. The term "decision regret" was coined in the English-language literature to describe the shift in patient preferences after therapy completion [19, 20]. It is now well established that patients' preferences can change after therapy compared to their pre-therapeutic assessment, because new life situations arise, or therapeutic side effects were previously assessed incorrectly. Recent studies on patients with oropharyngeal carcinoma show that changes affecting patients' prognosis and thus the average survival time after therapy influence the weighting of quality of life preferences. For example, patients with human papillomavirus (HPV)-associated oropharyngeal carcinomas have a significantly better chance of cure than patients with HPV-negative carcinomas and therefore a longer average post-therapy survival [10, 21].

Despite presenting with comparable symptoms, the weightings in the definition of therapy benefit in patients with HPV-positive oropharyngeal carcinoma patients can differ significantly from patients with HPV-negative tumors. In particular, the long-term therapy side effects which influence quality of life parameters such as swallowing ability and speech in patients with a significantly higher post-therapeutic life expectancy lead to up to 60% of patients with HPV-associated oropharyngeal carcinomas stating that they permanently suffer from severe limitations, which were not adequately considered in the therapy decision [22]. In contrast, HPVnegative patients, whose disease is associated with a significantly worse prognosis, are subjectively less burdened by corresponding quality of life limitations after successful therapy. Technical developments in surgical and non-surgical therapy can also significantly influence quality of life parameters and thus patient preferences. In recent decades, the widespread introduction of intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT) has played an important role in radiotherapy. Several trials show a post-therapeutic clinical benefit for head and neck cancer patients after IMRT compared to conventional radiotherapy. The reduction of the radiation dose in the area of the salivary glands decisively influences the side effects of the treatment [23-25].

One quality of life parameter considered very important by patients, namely post-therapeutic dry mouth and associated limitations in swallowing, is significantly less pronounced after IMRT, thus rendering older study results on conventional radiotherapy obsolete. A similar development could be observed in the field of surgical therapy options: The establishment of transoral robotic-assisted surgery is shifting treatment preferences for patients with head and neck tumors, especially in regions where no alternative transoral therapy procedures were previously available. Study results from recent years show that TORS can achieve better functional results in patients with oropharyngeal carcinoma compared to open surgical therapy, especially with regard to the parameters of swallowing ability and speech preservation, which are important for quality of life. [26, 27]. Here, too, older studies comparing quality of life parameters after open surgical therapy versus non-surgical therapy should at least be questioned. Since healthy relatives, e. g. spouses and children, are often included in the treatment planning of head and neck tumor patients, their assessments may influence the choice of therapy. This is relevant from the therapist's point of view. Several studies compared not only the preferences of different patient groups, but also differences in assessment between patients and their healthy relatives. Interestingly, young healthy respondents assessed the late effects of therapy as significantly more burdensome than the affected head and neck tumor patients related to them [28]. Higher congruence was found in the weighting of the preferences between cancer patients and their life partners [20].

#### 2.2 Most important quality of life parameters

With the exception of some patients with laryngeal carcinoma, who place the highest priority on preserving their natural speech, studies of nearly all other head and neck tumor entities show that the parameters related to cure and survival are consistently given the highest priority [29-32]. Although this finding may seem obvious, it should nevertheless be emphasized as it is the basic prerequisite for any new therapy or modification – a reduction in morbidity is only valuable if the chances of cure or survival are not negatively affected. A certain proportion of patients may be willing to accept small losses in terms of their statistical chances of cure to reduce the side effects of their therapy. According to studies, however, on average, the range of accepted reduction in the chance of healing in favor of improved post-operative functional preservation is around 5% [33]. Secondary quality of life factors show a much more heterogeneous distribution of weighting, depending on both patient characteristics and tumor location. After cure and survival, freedom from pain comes first for many patients [20, 34]. Further, lower-ranking preferences depend on tumor location: patients with oropharyngeal and oral cavity carcinomas tend to view swallowing and chewing as post-therapy quality of life factors with high priority. In contrast, preservation or rehabilitation of speech function is a priority for patients with laryngeal carcinomas [35, 36]. Interestingly, in a German study by Tschiesner and co-authors, after survival and cure, patients with a tumor in the head and neck region assigned the highest priority to the coverage of direct and indirect therapy costs [37]. This factor is rarely mentioned in international studies and is surprising in view of the cost coverage provisions in the German healthcare system. The authors of the study speculate that the information provided by patients primarily relates to indirect costs, which result, for example, from a potential inability to return to their job after therapy. Extensive studies have shown that patients are sometimes unable to continue their previous work after tumor diseases and thus suffer significant losses of income [38]. Overall, apart from the key parameters cure and survival, individual patient profiles with regard to the weighting of the quality of life parameters are heterogeneous and depend on multiple factors.

#### 2.3 Assessment of quality of life parameters

By definition, "quality of life" summarizes aspects of a person's physical, mental and social health [39]. In a medical context, quality of life parameters are usually queried in relation to the disease or the corresponding therapy, especially when it comes to evaluating patients' therapy benefit. For the assessment of the quality of life of patients with head and neck tumors at different points over the course of the disease, several methods have been established, namely the evaluation of clinical indicators, the assessment by means of questionnaires or special clinical examinations. As described above, the individual definition of "quality of life" in patients with head and neck tumors is very heterogeneous. However, it is well documented that oropharyngeal cancer patients attach outstanding importance to their post-therapeutic swallowing ability after the primary therapy goals of survival and cure [40]. Since transoral resection of oropharyngeal carcinomas is currently the main field of application of robotic surgery in the head and neck region, clinical indicators, guestionnaires and clinical examination methods that can be used to record the quality of life and the swallowing ability of these patients are summarized below. Clinical indicators, unlike questionnaires or specific clinical examinations, are rather crude parameters for recording functional limitations, but are suitable for retrospective evaluation of therapeutic procedures. In patients with oropharyngeal carcinoma, these include the need for and duration of gastric tube or percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG) tube placement. As a rule, a PEG tube is used primarily for patients for whom a post-operative oral diet is not possible. In addition to the purely functional restriction, a PEG tube has been shown to have a serious impact on the overall quality of life of tumor patients, since life with family members is strongly affected [41-43]. In addition, there are undesirable side effects, such as the potential long-term negative impact on swallowing ability due to muscular and neurological changes, which make a subsequent switch to oral nutrition much more difficult [44]. A purely prophylactic post-operative PEG tube placement must therefore be questioned. In some studies on patients with oropharyngeal carcinoma, the change in body weight of the patients over time is also used as an indicator for assessing post-operative food intake. It is measured as a percentage of the patients' initial weight and is divided into grades [45]. The advantage of this method is the recording of the total food intake independent of the route of delivery, but it is only meaningful in combination with other functional parameters for the assessment of swallowing ability. The necessity and duration of peri-operative tracheostomy in the context of transoral tumor surgery is regularly recorded in corresponding studies. Patients find the permanent fitting of a tracheostomy tube to be extremely stressful, as both swallowing and speaking ability are negatively affected. However, in contrast to the initial TORS patients with oropharyngeal carcinoma where tracheostomy was regularly performed, the current temporary and permanent tracheostomy rate is very low [46].

Several tools are available for the standardized and detailed assessment of swallowing. For example, the *Performance Status Scale for Head and Neck Cancer Patients (PSS-HN)* or the *Functional Outcomes Swallowing Scale (FOSS)* are applied and recorded by the therapists. The *Eating Assessment Tool (EAT-10)*, the *MD Anderson Dysphagia Inventory (MDADI)*, the *Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy (FACT)*, or the *Sydney Swallow Questionnaire (SSQ)* are based on patient-reported data. The two latter mentioned tools are similar to the MDADI with regard to the information provided [47]. **Table 1** provides an overview of the acquisition tools mentioned, FACT and SSQ are not listed due to their redundancy to MDADI. ► Table 1 Overview of standardized tools to assess the swallowing capacity of cancer patients. The two first mentioned instruments are based on an estimation by the therapist, the other two questionnaires are filled out by the patients.

Tool	Assessment	Details
Performance Status Scale for Head and Neck Cancer Patients (PSS-HN) [48]	Therapist-based	<ul> <li>Assesses nutrition habits on a scale of 0–100</li> <li>Allows an estimation of the patients' ability to take in food of different consistencies</li> </ul>
Functional Outcomes Swallowing Scale (FOSS) [49]	Therapist-based	<ul> <li>Scale of 6 grades, 0 corresponds to normal function, 5 means no oral food intake</li> <li>Rapid assessment in simple categories</li> </ul>
Eating Assessment Tool (EAT-10) [50]	Patient-based	<ul> <li>10 items to assess the swallowing ability</li> <li>Validated for the correlation with the risk of aspiration during swallowing of head and neck cancer patients after therapy [51–52]</li> </ul>
MD Anderson Dysphagia Inventory (MDADI) [53]	Patient-based	<ul> <li>20 items regarding 4 swallowing-associated QoL areas (global, emotional, functional, physical)</li> <li>Higher scores correspond to better function and higher QoL</li> <li>Good correlation with duration of tube feeding and also with tumor stage and complications [54]</li> </ul>

In relation to the individual patient, functional diagnostics play a role in addition to the aforementioned standardized questionnaires. The flexible endoscopic evaluation of swallowing (FEES) and the barium swallow examination allow conclusions to be drawn about the cause of the functional restriction. FEES allows direct endoscopic inspection of the swallowing process in the pharynx. After surgical resection, a detailed endoscopic wound inspection is also possible (> Fig. 1). In contrast, barium swallow examination (> Fig. 2) shows the flow of the bolus in relation to the surrounding anatomy and may therefore be more sensitive for the detection of aspiration events [55]. For the barium swallow examination, the results can be quantified using the Dynamic Imaging Grade of Swallowing Toxicity (DI-GEST) method to make them comparable. [56]. A study of patients with TORS-treated oropharyngeal carcinoma patients showed that post-operative limitations could be reliably detected over time and that a DIGEST score greater than or equal to 2 reliably reflects clinically apparent moderate to severe dysphagia [57].

Tools that allow for a comprehensive analysis of the overall quality of life of tumor patients have also been established. There is a large number of available questionnaires, but the most commonly used are the QLQ-C30 and QLQ-H&N35 of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC), the University of Washington Quality of Life (UW-QOL) and the MD Anderson Symptom Inventory – Head and Neck Module (MDASI-HN) [58]. > Table 2 provides an overview of the three mentioned questionnaires.

The listed questionnaires and clinical examination tools offer a variety of ways to assess post-operative function and quality of life in patients after therapy for OPSCC and other head and neck tumors. Nevertheless, in addition to cure and survival data, many of the studies reviewed in the following chapters primarily evaluate clinical parameters, such as the duration of gastrostomy tube or tracheostomy tube use. For future studies, a consistent application of the available tools would be desirable to evaluate patient benefit and quality of life in comparison of different therapies in more detail.

# 3 Robot-assisted surgery of the head and neck: state of the art

This review article is focused on the evaluation of robotic-assisted surgery in the head and neck with regard to patient benefit and quality of life and does not have the main objective of highlighting technical or economic aspects of robotic technology. Extensive German-language publications from the past years have been published [65, 66]. Nevertheless, a brief look at the current state of the art is indispensable, as robotic systems for head and neck surgery are subject to constant technological development. This may affect the surgical fields of application and therapy results and thus impact patient-related aspects such as healing or survival and secondary quality of life parameters.

#### 3.1 DaVinci and FLEX system

In head and neck surgery, the da Vinci system from Intuitive Surgical (Sunnyvale, USA) is used most frequently and is commonly used at specialized centers in the US for the transoral resection of oropharyngeal carcinomas. While the main areas of application of the system continue to be in abdominal surgery, gynecologic and urologic surgery [67, 68], technical developments have expanded its range of application to the pharynx and larynx. The system consists of a console, from which the surgeon remotely controls the robotic arms, and the actual robot, which consists of three instrument arms and a camera arm. The da Vinci system has gone through various generations; currently, the so-called X-generation is being marketed. In addition, a single-port system (> Fig. 3a) has been developed, in which three instruments and the endoscope are inserted through a single 2.5 cm diameter working channel. Other key technological innovations in recent years have included the positioning of the robotic arms above the patient, whereas in previous versions they were positioned beside the patient, and the integration of 3D visualization. For transoral head and neck surgery, the development of the single-port system is promising, as this facilitates the application in the limited anatomical space of the pharynx [69]. According to early reports, the single-port system could improve the accessibility and resection of tumors in the supraglottis and hypopharynx compared to previous versions without increasing the complication rate [70, 71].

The FLEX system developed by Medrobotics (Raynham, USA) is the second robotic system approved in the US and Europe for head and neck surgery (**Fig. 3b**). The two systems differ fundamentally in the surgeon's handling and positioning. In the FLEX system, the



Fig. 1 Flexible endoscopic examination before and after transoral resection of an OPSCC of the left base of tongue base with TLM. a. Preoperative findings (white outline: tumor). b. After transoral tumor resection with fibrin layers and edema around the arytenoid cartilage five days after surgery.
 c. Swallowing examination with blue liquid: no sign of aspiration. (source: own images).



▶ Fig. 2 Barium swallow after total laryngectomy. a. White arrow pointing to a fistula formation 10 days after surgery. b. Follow-up image 15 days after surgery without any detectable fistula formation. (source: own images).

surgeon is positioned at the patient's head and operates the effector instruments with their own hands, whereas the da Vinci system is controlled remotely. The FLEX instruments are inserted via working channels guided along a flexible, robotic endoscope, and the surgeon receives direct haptic feedback during surgery. 3D visualization is now also established for the FLEX system. Technical advancements in recent years have also included the development of special retractors [72], in order to improve the access to deeper anatomy such as the supraglottis and hypopharynx [73–75]. Both the da Vinci system and the FLEX system are primarily used for transoral oropharynx surgery, and less frequently in the supraglottis region or the hypopharynx. The glottis level or the nasopharynx are difficult to reach with the instruments and have to be considered borderline areas of application. Study results for the resection of tumors in these areas are on the level of single-case series. Studies ► Table 2The three most frequently applied questionnaires to assess the quality of life of head and neck cancer patients. QLQ-C30 and QLQ-H&N53: Questionnaire regarding the quality of life of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC), UW-QOL: University of Washington Quality of Life questionnaire; MDASI-HN: MD Anderson Symptom Inventory – Head and Neck Module questionnaire.

Tool	Details
EORTC QLQ-C30/QLQ-H&N35	<ul> <li>Two modules of 30 and 35 items, respectively, general oncologic questions and specifically referring to head and neck cancer</li> <li>Scales of 0–100, higher scores correspond to better function as well as more symptoms</li> <li>5–10 points difference correspond clinically significant change [59–60]</li> </ul>
UW-QOL	<ul> <li>Surgeon's perspective, focus on post-therapeutic function</li> <li>15 items resulting in an overall score of 0 (poor) to 100 (good)</li> <li>6–7 points difference correspond to clinically significant change [61]</li> </ul>
MDASI-HN	<ul> <li>11 head and neck specific items, 13 general oncologic questions, 6 items about living circumstances (work, relationships etc.) [62]</li> <li>Assesses symptom burden, frequently used to evaluate time course of burden comparing different treatment modalities [63–64]</li> </ul>

on glottic laryngeal carcinomas resected with the da Vinci system show that the corresponding anatomical regions can be reached by flexible laser fibers without additional tracheostomy [76, 77], but also demonstrate difficulties in visualizing the anterior laryn-



▶ Fig. 3 a. DaVinci Single Port System (Intuitive Surgical, Sunnyvale, USA). b. FLEX-System (Medrobotics, Raynham, USA). (sources: courtesy of the manufacturers).

geal commissure and an increased risk of recurrence in this area [78]. Therefore, a standard expansion of the scope of robotic systems for glottic laryngeal surgery is not expected at this time, especially since excellent oncologic results have been achieved with TLM in this field for decades [79–81].

#### 3.2 Other robotic assistance systems

In addition to the da Vinci system and the FLEX system with their main field of application in transoral surgery, a wide variety of robotic systems for head and neck surgery have been developed in recent years. Technologically, the systems differ fundamentally depending on the field of application, as the anatomical conditions dictate the focus of technical development. In the following, some systems for transnasal application in the area of the anterior skull base as well as for ear surgery are presented.

The robotic systems for transnasal applications in the region of the anterior skull base are generally not used as effectors, but function primarily as endoscope holders to improve visualization and allow the surgeon more freedom of action. These include the RO-VOT-m system (Synaptive Medical Corporation, Toronto, Canada), the Cirq system (formerly Endoscope Robot, Medineering Surgical Robots, Munich, now Brainlab AG, Munich, **Fig. 4**), and the SoloAssist endoscope system (AKTORmed Robotic Surgery, Barbing) [82-85]. In the systems, the endoscopes are attached to a carrier system and then inserted transnasally. Precise positioning is usually performed via joystick in multiple degrees of freedom. Robotic systems for transnasal use that have effector tools have not yet been used on patients but are in development. For example, the SmartArm system from the University of Tokyo in Japan, which has 3-mm-diameter flexible tools and a 4-mm-diameter endoscope. Good accessibility and effective treatment of anterior skull base defects have been demonstrated in cadaver studies [86]. A system from Vanderbilt University in the US is based on a system of microtubes designed to improve maneuverability and features instruments with a diameter of less than 2 mm [87, 88].

In contrast to robotic systems developed for transnasal access, which focus on size reduction and instrument maneuverability, the focus in robotic ear surgery is on increasing surgical precision. A common application example is electrode insertion for cochlear implant (CI) implantation. To avoid intracochlear trauma during insertion, traditionally implanting surgeons have had to rely on their subjective perception of resistance within the cochlea [89]. This



Fig. 4 Cirq System (Brainlab AG, Munich, Germany) used as an endoscope holder during endoscopic sinus surgery. (source: own images).

could be facilitated by the use of an insertion robot. In addition, conventional implantation involves extensive mastoidectomy, which could potentially be avoided by direct insertion channel drilling. For the systems used in ear surgery, Rijoas and co-authors propose a distinction between three classes of robotic systems [90], a) collaborative robotic systems, b) teleoperated systems, and c) autonomous systems. Collaborative systems have a limiting or reinforcing effect on the surgeon's continued manual instrument guidance. They guide the surgeon along a defined route and have been established in neurosurgery for some time, but in in head and neck surgery they have only been tested in individual cases for precise, minimally invasive CI implantation [91]. Other systems limit the surgeon's deviation toward sensitive structures during surgery, for example by tracking the position of the drill intraoperatively using a navigation system. In the vicinity of previously defined structures, drilling speed is automatically reduced [92]. The Steady Hand Robot (Galen Robotics Inc., Baltimore, USA) reduces the surgeon's physiological hand tremor during ear surgery [93]. The teleoperated da Vinci system, which is primarily used in TORS procedures, has been used on an experimental basis in cadaveric studies for CI implantation [94], however, it has not yet been investigated in clinical use. Two alternative teleoperated systems from the University of Vanderbilt, USA, and the Technical University of Munich are expected to increase the precision of middle ear surgery and improve the accessibility of certain middle ear structures

[95, 96]. Clinical trials are expected. The RobOtol system (Collin Ltd., Begnuex, France) is approved for clinical application; it is used as instrument holder for endoscopic ear surgery [97] as well as an effector tool for the insertion of CI electrodes [98]. Fully autonomous systems are used in ear surgery for drilling in the mastoid, for example in CI implantation. The prerequisite is prior programming and continuous intraoperative position tracking, e.g., using infrared technology. Alternatively, the robotic system can be firmly connected to the patient's head [99]. Once appropriately programmed, the robotic systems can perform high-precision drilling procedures that are expected to make full mastoidectomy obsolete as part of CI implantation. The HEARO system (Cascination AG, Bern, Switzerland) is an example of such a fully autonomous system and has already been tested on patients [100]. For further information regarding the advantages and disadvantages of the clinically tested systems, see chapter 6.2.

### 4 The role of TORS in the treatment of oropharyngeal cancer

Currently, the transoral surgical treatment of oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma (OPSCC) is the main field of application for robotic surgical systems in head and neck surgery. The epidemiological changes in oropharyngeal carcinomas have contributed decisively to this trend in recent years: the incidence rates for OPSCC are increasing in absolute and relative terms compared to other head and neck tumors [101]. While exposure to the carcinogenic agents nicotine and alcohol is decreasing, thereby decreasing the likelihood of disease for the majority of head and neck squamous cell carcinomas, the increase in OPSCC in North America, Northern Europe, and Australia is due to the increase in the incidence of HPVassociated OPSCC [21, 102–106]. HPV-positive OPSCC are predominantly located in the lymphoid tissue of the tonsils and base of the tongue, which are accessible via TORS, and the response to therapy is significantly better than for HPV-negative carcinomas. This is true for both primary radiotherapy and primary surgical therapy [107–111]. The sharp increase in incidence in patients who tend to be younger and healthier with a high remaining life expectancy compared to non-HPV related OPSCC patients has led to the development and establishment of potentially less invasive treatment modalities: In the United States, patients with OPSCC were treated primarily with radiochemotherapy until the early 2000s. Because of the low prevalence of TLM, an external surgical approach to the

oropharynx was often chosen in the case of surgical therapy. Both procedures, radiation therapy and open surgery, are associated with a wide range of side effects. Despite a reduction in toxicity with the widespread adoption of intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT), dry mouth and corresponding dysphagia are to be expected after high-dose radiotherapy. In addition, there is a risk of esophageal stenosis and osteoradionecrosis in the irradiation field [112, 113]. The introduction of the da Vinci system and the FLEX system for transoral resection of OPSCC provides a surgical alternative (> Fig. 5) that allows resection without open surgical approaches via lip-splitting, jaw-splitting, or an open transcervical approach. Thus, intra- and post-operative morbidity is reduced, and post-operative quality of life can potentially be improved. After a review of potential peri- and post-operative complications of TORS, the following sections present the value of TORS in OPSCC compared with the open surgical approach. This is followed by a comparison of TORS to primary radiotherapy, based on the available data concerning patient benefit and post-operative quality of life. Again, it should be noted that due to the pronounced regional differences in the spread of robotic technology, the majority of the results on TORS in OPSCC come from the US. A detailed comparison with TLM, which is more widely used in Germany and Europe and may offer similar advantages to TORS for certain indications, is not feasible due to the lack of data at this point.

# 4.1 Peri- and postoperative complications and side effects of TORS

For an initial assessment of the importance of TORS in the treatment of oropharyngeal carcinoma regarding patient benefit and quality of life, a brief overview of the risk profile of the surgical technique is indispensable. Peri-operatively, postoperative bleeding plays the greatest role, and post-operatively, swallowing difficulties have the most lasting impact on patients' quality of life. After almost two decades of experience, individual studies with large case numbers and meta-analyses are now available, which allow an assessment of the spectrum of complications and side effects.

#### 4.1.1 Postoperative bleeding

Postoperative bleeding is the most commonly documented complication during and after TORS procedures [114, 115]. The severity of postoperative hemorrhage can vary, so that depending on the definition of the reporting authors, postoperative hemorrhage rates range from 1.5% to 18.5% [116–122]. Pollei and co-authors



**Fig. 5** a-c: Transoral resection of an oropharyngeal carcinoma of the posterior pharyngeal wall with the FLEX system (Medrobotics, Raynham, USA). (source: own images).

proposed a classification system for bleeding events after TORS in 2013 to improve comparability [116] (> Table 3).

The classification system it is not consistently applied, however, following its grading allows for an estimation of the rate of major bleeding events; their rate ranges from 1.6 to 3.7% in the abovementioned studies. Only in very rare cases does a fatal post-bleeding event occur; a multicenter U.S. study recorded a total of 4 cases with a fatal outcome, which corresponded to a rate of less than 0.2% of all patients examined in the study [114]. More than 80% of the documented bleeding events occurred within two weeks after surgery, and certain factors increase the risk for a bleeding event. These include surgery for recurrent disease or following prior radiation therapy, i.e., salvage surgery. Comorbidities and the use of anticoagulant therapeutics are also considered adverse factors. Interestingly, transcervical ligation of the feeding arterial vessels, which can be performed during neck dissection, does not seem to influence the overall rate of postoperative bleeding events. However, this prophylactic measure does have a significant limiting effect on the severity of bleeding events [116, 123]. Therefore, some authors recommend performing temporary tracheostomy if a neck dissection with vascular ligation is not performed as part of the tumor resection to prevent aspiration events in case of severe postoperative bleeding [124]. Although severe bleeding events are rare, the majority of bleeding events after TORS require surgical intervention, so they are classified as at least moderate according to Pollei and co-authors [125]. Most bleedings may be controlled by means of transoral monopolar cautery, and subsequent transcervical interventions are rarely necessary. Independent of patient-dependent factors, the experience of the treating surgeons affects the risk profile. Overall complication rates are lower in surgeons with high case volume, i. e., over 50 cases per year, than in those who perform TORS procedures less frequently [115]. This can be explained, among other things, by the fact that special instruments are used in TORS which are otherwise rarely used. With the help of special vessel clips for transoral ligation of fee-

► **Table 3**Classification system for postoperative bleeding after TORS according to Pollei and co-authors [116]. Consistent application of a uniform classification system increases the comparability of studies.

Classification	Description
Normal	Bloody tinged sputum, bloody spots, brownish sputum, red streaks
Minor	Bright red blood or blood clots; resolved without surgery
Intermediate	Diffuse venous bleeding or minor arterial bleeding, surgery required, hemostasis by bipolar or monopolar coagulation
Major	Extensive hemorrhage requiring surgical interventi- on via transoral or transcervical vascular ligation or neuroradiologic intervention
Severe	Bleeding resulting in life-threatening medical complications such as airway obstruction requiring tracheostomy, cardiopulmonary arrest, hemodyna- mic instability requiring blood transfusion

ding arterial vessels, vessels with a diameter of more than 1 mm, can be safely ligated [126].

#### 4.1.2 Dysphagia

The extent of post-operative dysphagia plays a prominent role in the quality of life of patients after OPSCC therapy. It has been shown to be one of the strongest influencing factors on the extent of decision regret, i. e. retrospective second-guessing of the choice of therapy among patients [127]. Some studies provide an overview of the extent of swallowing difficulties in patients after TORS for OPSCC and can give an impression of the invasiveness of the procedure. It is important to note that many patients still receive adjuvant radiotherapy after primary TORS, which in turn may further adversely affect swallowing. A comparison of functional outcomes after TORS and primary radiotherapy is provided in section 4.3. Studies from the US and Europe show that, across all tumor stages, in approximately 5-8% of all cases after TORS in OPSCC patients, inpatient re-admission is required due to swallowing difficulties [121, 128, 129]. The extent of post-operative dysphagia after TORS without adjuvant therapy has been well studied, especially for patients with early tumor stages: Albergotti and co-authors, in a prospective study of patients with predominantly small primary tumors (96% stage T1 or T2), showed that 92% of patients were on a full oral diet at discharge, and 98% of patients were on an oral diet after 1 month [129]. Other studies in patients with early tumor stages, which examined swallowing ability at 6 and 12 months, also show good recovery of swallowing ability, at the latest 12 months after surgery [130, 131]. The duration of feeding via gastric tube after surgical therapy using TORS alone also suggests a favorable functional outcome: although a gastric tube is placed intraoperatively in up to 39% of patients, permanent tube feeding is required in only 0-9.5% of all cases [54, 121, 132-134].

#### 4.2 Surgery for oropharyngeal carcinomas: TORS vs. open resection

The goal of any surgical therapy for OPSCC is a complete resection of the tumor with adequate safety margins. This improves the overall prognosis of the patient, and the dose of adjuvant therapy administered depending on other risk factors can possibly be reduced [135]. HPV-positive OPSCC are particularly amenable to TORS because of their predominant localization in the tonsils or base of the tongue and their tendency towards lower T-stages at initial diagnosis compared with HPV-negative carcinomas [136]. However, patients with HPV-negative OPSCC may well benefit from the use of TORS for tumor resection [137, 138] if patients are carefully selected. Pre-operative imaging by CT or MRI plays an important role in treatment planning (> Fig. 6). Irrespective of the surgical approach, tumor tissue surrounding the internal carotid artery by 270° or more or an infiltration of the pre-vertebral musculature or the vertebral bodies are considered contraindications for primary surgery. Compared to open surgical approaches, local resection beyond the mandibular periosteum cannot be achieved by means of TORS, so that in cases of bony infiltration an open surgical procedure with subsequent reconstruction is more suitable [139]. The same applies to tumor infiltration of the masticator space, the pterygoid muscles or the temporalis muscle. Notably, the need for reconstruction using a free flap is not a contraindication for TORS [140, 141]. However, if the parapharyngeal space is involved, the close relationship to the internal carotid artery and cranial nerves IX to XI must be considered, which may make transoral tumor resection difficult. Tumor manifestation in the nasopharynx is difficult to reach by TORS, especially the da Vinci system, and is typically reserved for open surgical approaches [142, 143]. In OPSCC of the base of the tongue, considerations regarding the depth of infiltration play a role: In case of tumor infiltration in the region of both lingual arteries, a higher degree of safety can be achieved with an open surgical procedure with regard to possible complications, but also the preservation of at least one supplying artery. In addition, immediate reconstruction is possible.

In cases where both resection via a transoral approach and an open approach are possible, advantages and disadvantages must be weighed. Here, aspects of the planned intraoperative procedure as well as their potential impact on post-operative function and quality of life play a role. The main advantages of an open approach for the resection of OPSCC, especially when performing a mandibular split, are the extensive exposure of the base of the tongue (> Fig. 7). Disadvantages of this highly invasive approach include the risk of postoperative malocclusion, postoperative infections, e.g., osteomyelitis, and, in the case of prior or adjuvant radiation, an increased osteoradionecrosis rate. Furthermore, osteosynthesis materials often have to be removed later on [144]. Aesthetic aspects, especially after lip split, must be taken into consideration [145]. With regard to the key patient benefit parameters, namely survival or cure rates, comparative studies suggest that there are no clear differences in oncologic outcome depending on the surgical approach, i. e., open vs. transoral [137, 146]. Individual studies, such as those by Ford and co-authors, do show a trend toward improved stage-adjusted and HPV status-controlled overall survival of patients after TORS compared with open surgery (94, 91, and 89% at 1, 2, and 3 years vs. 85, 75, and 73% at 1,2, and 3 years, respectively) [137]. However, interpretation should consider that all studies were retrospective and thus non-randomized. Despite stage-adapted and HPV status-controlled analysis, it is conceivable

that with simultaneous availability of TORS and open surgery at individual centers, anatomically more critical tumor resections were more likely to be performed by open surgery. Whether this influences survival and cure rates in favor of TORS surgery is unclear, especially since overall tumor stages were considered in the analysis of the studies. However, at least with regard to functional guality of life parameters, influences in favor of robotic surgery by patient selection must be considered. Advantages of TORS over open surgery for OPSCC in terms of functional parameters were demonstrated by Lee and co-authors: Their study of patients with tonsillar carcinoma demonstrates a more rapid resumption of oral nutritional intake after TORS ( $6.5 \pm 4.2$  days compared with  $16.7 \pm 5.3$ days after open surgery), as well as a reduction in the average duration of tracheostomy by more than 8 days, with the TORS group also requiring less tracheostomies overall [147]. It has been shown that the hospitalization time of patients after TORS procedures is significantly shorter compared to open procedures. The duration until the start of adjuvant therapy is thus shortened, which in turn can have a positive effect on the prognosis [138]. The available data are limited; however, they allow the assumption that TORS provides advantages regarding the postoperative quality of life, especially in the context of important parameters like swallowing and tracheal cannula, compared to open approaches for well-selected patients. According to current knowledge, the key aspects of survival and healing are not negatively influenced after TORS in comparison to open surgery.

## 4.3 TORS vs. primary radiotherapy: oncological outcome and quality of life

In the US, a paradigm shift has taken place in the last two decades: While in the early 2000s, only 54% of oropharyngeal carcinomas in early stages T1 or T2 received primary surgical treatment, by 2013, the rate increased to 82% of patients [148]. This trend is largely due to the establishment of TORS. Until the early 2000s, tumor resections in the oropharynx were predominantly performed via complication-prone transcervical or transmandibular approaches. A



**Fig. 6** PET/MRI images. **a**. HPV positive oropharyngeal carcinoma of the left glosso-tonsillar fossa with large ipsilateral lymph node metastases. **b**. HPV negative oropharyngeal carcinoma of the left tongue base extending beyond the midline. (source: own images).



**Fig. 7** Surgical access to the oropharynx by means of mandibular split. **a**. Extensive exposition of the body and base of the tongue. **b**. After reconstruction of the posterior right tongue with a radial forearm flap. (source: own images).

comprehensive 2002 study by Parsons and co-authors published in the journal Cancer suggested that oncologic outcomes were comparable after primary surgical therapy and primary radiation therapy. However, complication rates after primary surgical therapy in patients with OPSCC were significantly increased for both serious (25% for open surgery compared with 6% for primary radiation) and fatal complications (3.2% for open surgery compared with 0.8% for primary radiation)[149]. Although the definition of a "severe" complication was not uniformly applied in the above study, the results of this particular and other comparable studies shaped treatment preferences in North America in favor of primary radiotherapy for many years. In the case of primary surgical therapy, open approaches were preferred in the US, due in part to the low prevalence of TLM compared to Europe. In Europe, oropharyngeal carcinomas were routinely resected transorally using TLM as early as the 1980s [150]. In many US centers, TLM was introduced simultaneously to with TORS [151]. TORS subsequently gained increasing importance and has become established as standard therapy at many centers in recent years. Today, in the US, transcervical or transmandibular approaches are reserved for selected oropharyngeal tumors.

Compared to open surgery, transoral surgery offers advantages in terms of invasiveness and post-operative functional preservation when patients are well selected (see chapter 4.2.). However, this does not explain the shift in treatment preferences in favor of primary TORS compared with primary radiotherapy. Remarkably, the first prospective randomized trial comparing primary transoral surgery for OPSCC with primary radiotherapy was published as late as 2019. As previously outlined, such studies are difficult to perform when new surgical technologies are introduced, as their application is first investigated in selected patients. The Radiotherapy versus transoral robotic surgery and neck dissection for oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma (ORATOR) trial is the first and only prospective randomized study to date comparing outcomes of the two treatment modalities in 68 patients. Treatment was either primary radiation (chemo)therapy or primary surgery with or without adjuvant radiation (chemo)therapy [152]. 88% of patients in both groups were HPV-positive patients and the primary end goal of the study was to assess patients' quality of life at one year after therapy. Oncologic outcomes were also recorded: The authors found no difference between the groups at 2 years in terms of both diseasespecific survival and overall survival. In contrast, with regard to post-operative quality of life the ORATOR study showed a statistically, but not clinically significant, difference in post-therapy swallowing ability in favor of primary radiotherapy. The MDADI questionnaire (see section 2.2.) was used as an assessment tool. Neutropenia, hearing loss, and tinnitus occurred more frequently in the radiotherapy cohort. Other retrospective studies also do not show any differences between primary TORS and primary radiotherapy in terms of cure and survival in OPSCC patients, the primary parameters for assessing patient benefit. In 2018, Sinha and co-authors presented a comprehensive meta-analysis. After reviewing 73 studies from 2001 to 2017, the authors concluded that the choice of primary therapy had no significant impact on recurrence-free survival or overall patient survival [153]. Only HPV status has a significant impact on patient survival independent of therapy: HPV negativity increases the hazard ratio for patients by 74% in the case of primary surgical therapy or by 64% in the case of primary radiotherapy. The results are thus in line with a previous, somewhat less comprehensive meta-analysis by Wang and co-authors [154].

Thus, the establishment of TORS for the treatment of OPSCC cannot be attributed to an improvement in the oncologic outcome of patients compared with radiotherapy. Rather, the focus is on the effort to positively influence patients' post-operative quality of life by reducing the adverse effects of surgery as much as possible. A direct comparison of post-therapeutic quality of life between patients after primary radiation and primary surgery is complicated by the fact that each therapy modality has a specific range of side effects. Surgery-specific risks include side effects associated with anesthesia as well as peri- and post-operative post-bleeding (see chapter 4.1.1.), which hardly play a role after primary radiotherapy. Radiation therapy-specific side effects include mucositis and fungal infections in the irradiated area; in the long term, xerostomia and fibrotic soft tissue changes play a role [155]. Nevertheless, the side effects of both forms of therapy affect patients' post-therapy swallowing ability, so most comparative studies focus on this key parameter.

In the prospective ORATOR trial, patients who had undergone primary radiation therapy had higher post-therapy MDADI scores than patients after primary surgery, and had better oral food intake ability one year after therapy [152]. It should be noted that the ORATOR data are based on a patient population of less than 30 patients per group. Further prospective studies are still ongoing (see below), so retrospective studies must be used for further as-

sessments at this time. In a meta-analysis, Yeh and co-authors compared a total of 44 retrospective studies of functional outcomes after primary radiotherapy or TORS in patients with OPSCC. They compared tracheostomy rates, duration of gastric tube feeding, and patients' swallowing ability, among other outcomes, as measured by different recording tools [156]. After primary IMRT, the tracheostomy rate was 0.1 %-4.5 % compared to 0 %-3.5 % after primary TORS. The rate of long-term gastric tube dependence after IMRT ranged from 0% to 18% with a mean of 6.1% and was significantly influenced by patient-dependent parameters of age, smoking status, lymph node status, and additional administration of chemotherapy [157]. In patients after primary TORS, the values varied between 0% and 20.7%, with a mean value of 3.8%. Regarding swallowing assessment, comparability is hampered by the variety of recording tools used. Only two retrospective studies compared patients after primary IMRT and primary TORS using standardized questionnaires, namely the MDADI questionnaire and the UW-QOL questionnaire, respectively (see section 2.2). More and co-authors demonstrated better functional swallowing ability after six months and one year, respectively, after primary TORS compared to IMRT using the MDADI [132]. Chen and co-authors also reported better outcomes after surgical therapy: After one year, the functional swallowing ability after TORS or TLM was significantly better compared to IMRT, measured with the UW-OOL (91.5 after TORS/TLM vs. 72.1% after IMRT) [158].

In summary, the data available to date do not suggest an advantage for patient survival for either of the two primary treatment modalities, TORS or IMRT. Statements on post-operative quality of life, especially patients' swallowing ability, vary: While the only available prospective randomized study shows benefits for IMRT, other retrospective studies demonstrate a benefit after primary TORS. Thus, currently, no advantages in terms of post-operative quality of life can be derived for either of the two primary forms of therapy. In the coming years, the results of several ongoing prospective randomized trials are expected, which might provide new insights due to larger numbers of included patients compared to the ORATOR trial. Three studies are summarized in **Table 4**, two of the studies use the MDADI as a tool to assess their primary endpoint and should provide detailed findings on post-operative swallowing ability.

When comparing post-operative guality of life after primary TORS versus primary IMRT, it should be noted that "primary TORS" in many cases nevertheless implies that patients subsequently received adjuvant radiotherapy. Most OPSCC patients are currently treated outside of HPV-status based de-escalation studies and often receive adjuvant therapy if lymph node metastases are present. Most of the patients included in the above studies were in fact treated even before the introduction of the 8th edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) Staging Manual, which introduced a slight staging modification for HPV-positive OPSCC [159]. Because of the tendency of HPV-associated OPSCC to metastasize to lymph nodes early, adjuvant radiotherapy, sometimes with concomitant chemotherapy, was and is frequently applied in these patients [160]. In both above-mentioned retrospective studies and the prospective randomized ORATOR study, the proportion of patients who received adjuvant therapy after TORS was approximately 70% [26, 152].

Recent studies on OPSCC patients treated with TORS alone without adjuvant therapy show excellent post-operative results regarding swallowing function (see chapter 4.1.2). These are clearly superior to the average values of patients treated by primary TORS and adjuvant radiotherapy. Using various assessment tools, such as the DIGEST scale or the MDADI, values are often achieved as early as one month after surgery that are almost equivalent to the preoperative values [161]. Thus, one could assume that treatment with TORS alone may lead to better functional outcomes compared to primary IMRT. Unfortunately, there are no studies comparing primary TORS alone with primary radiotherapy. Hence, the currently ongoing therapy de-escalation studies for HPV-associated OPSCC are all the more promising: If a comparable oncological outcome were shown for HPV-positive OPSCC patients using TORS alone, or possibly with reduced adjuvant therapy, compared to IMRT, primary surgical treatment could potentially be accompanied by a significant improvement in post-operative quality of life.

Abbreviati- on	Title	Phase	Intervention	Primary outcome	NCT number
QOLATI	Quality of life after primary transoral robotic surgery vs intensity-modulated radiotherapy for patients with early-stage oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma: a randomized national trial	II	TORS and neck dissection ± ra- diochemotherapy vs. primary radiochemotherapy	Swallowing-related quality of life (MDADI)	04124190
Best of	Phase III study assessing the "best of" radiotherapy compared to the "best of" surgery in patients with T1-2, N0 oropharyngeal carcinoma	III	TORS, neck dissection vs. primary Radiotherapy and neck dissection	Swallowing-related quality of life (MDADI)	02984410
TopROC	Comparative effectiveness trial of transoral head and neck surgery followed by adjuvant radio(chemo) therapy vs. primary radio(chemo) therapy for oropharyngeal cancer	IV	TORS and neck dissection ± ra- diochemotherapy vs. primary radiochemotherapy	Recurrence-free survival and overall survival	03691441

**Table 4**Overview of selected prospective trials comparing primary TORS and primary IMRT for OPSCC.

# 4.4 Role of TORS in therapy de-escalation for HPV positive oropharyngeal carcinomas

Patients with HPV-positive OPSCC tend to be younger and healthier at the time of diagnosis compared with patients with HPV-negative OPSCC; they therefore have a higher remaining life expectancy after therapy is completed [10]. Long-term side effects of therapy play a significant role in these patients. Therapy de-escalation studies aim to identify therapy modifications that reduce the side effect profile without compromising oncologic outcomes. Currently, prospective studies of both primary surgical and primary radiation-based therapy for HPV-positive OPSCC are underway. In many cases, TORS is used as the primary surgical therapy. Provided support by respective study results, the prospect of treating more advanced HPV-positive OPSCC with TORS alone or at least with reduced adjuvant therapy intensity opens up and patients' post-operative guality of life may be improved. Primary surgical therapy has an inherent advantage in the context of therapy de-escalation, namely that it enables definitive histopathologic staging of the primary tumor and the neck. This can be used to establish risk profiles that determine whether or not de-escalation of adjuvant therapy is feasible. Key factors are the number of metastatic cervical lymph nodes and any evidence of extracapsular extension (ECE) in these nodes. Cervical lymph node metastasis is a negative prognostic factor in HPV-positive OPSCC, but less impactful than in HPV-negative OPSCC [108, 162, 163]. In contrast, the prognostic role of ECE for HPV-positive OPSCC has not been conclusively established, and results from retrospective studies are conflicting. While some authors have demonstrated that ECE in lymph node metastases in HPV-associated OPSCC has no impact on prognosis [164–166], others found ECE to be risk factor warranting adjuvant therapy [167-170]. Most ongoing de-escalation studies still include ECE as an adjuvant therapy-determining factor in their study protocols.

Two prospective phase II therapy de-escalation studies with primary surgical therapy for HPV-associated OPSCC have already been completed and show promising results regarding oncologic outcome after intensity reduction of adjuvant therapy. In the AVOID trial, the primary tumor region in the oropharynx was excluded from adjuvant radiation in the case of complete prior TORS resection without additional pathologic risk factors such as perineural sheath infiltration or lymphatic vessel intrusion [171].

Irradiation of the neck was performed according to risk factors identified via bilateral neck dissection. Recurrence-free survival was 98.3 % at two years for patients included in the single-arm study. The authors report that the tumor region was irradiated with only 36.9 Gy under the modified protocol. Regarding patient quality of life, the duration of gastric tube feeding was recorded and was 3.3 % immediately after completion of reduced radiation and 0 % after two years.

In the MC 1273 trial, the dose of adjuvant therapy after surgical tumor resection was reduced to 30 to 36 Gy depending on the patients' ECE status [172]. In the case of ECE detection, patients received 36 Gy of cervical irradiation; in addition, all patients in the study received docetaxel. In this study, a few tumor resections were performed via an open approach, but the portion of transoral resections was 95%. Recurrence-free survival at two years was 96.2%. The study authors report that no patient was fed via a gastric tube

🖗 Thieme

Final results from ECOG-E3311, also a phase II trial, are not yet available, but preliminary results were presented by the authors in 2020 [173]. In 519 OPSCC patients, all of whom were treated by primary TORS, adjuvant therapy was adjusted based on histopathologic results. Patients with complete or close margin tumor resection, two to four lymph node metastases, or ECE of one millimeter or less, were assigned to the intermediate of three risk groups and randomized to receive either 50 or 60 Gy of radiation. Patients with lower risk profiles received no adjuvant therapy, whereas patients with higher risk profiles received conventional therapy in the form of high-dose radiation chemotherapy. Remarkably, recurrence-free survival at two years did not differ when comparing all groups. Results regarding post-operative function and quality of life are not expected until the final publication of the data. Given the large number of patients included and the study design, very informative results are to be expected. Similarly, some other de-escalation studies investigating quality of life parameters as primary endpoints are underway. > Table 5 provides an overview of some of the relevant studies.

Aside from the above-mentioned studies on therapy de-escalation with primary surgical therapy, numerous studies on therapy de-escalation with primary radiotherapy are being conducted. If the therapeutic efficacy remains the same, a reduction in post-therapeutic morbidity and thus an improvement in the quality of life of the patients can be expected. This may then raise the question of the comparison between therapy-deescalated primary surgical therapy and therapy-deescalated primary radiotherapy. The ORA-TOR II study attempts to anticipate this by comparing a de-escalated radiotherapy-based treatment regimen, namely 60 Gy ± chemotherapy with primary surgical therapy ± adjuvant radiotherapy of 50–60 Gy (NCT03210103).

## 5 Special indications for TORS in the oropharynx: workup of cancers of unknown primary and treatment of obstructive sleep apnea

#### 5.1 Cancers of unknown primary

The term Cancer of unknown primary (CUP) refers to one or more cervical lymph node metastases of which the primary tumor site is unknown. CUPs account for approximately 1.5% - 9% of all head and neck carcinomas [174, 175]. In parallel with the increase in incidence of HPV-positive OPSCC, there has also been an increase in newly diagnosed head and neck carcinomas initially classified as CUP in recent years. After appropriate diagnostic workup, these often turn out to be HPV-associated OPSCC with a small, initially undetected, primary tumor and large cervical lymph node metastases [176, 177]. Identification of the primary tumor is challenging but, if successful, can significantly benefit patients by enabling targeted therapy of the primary tumor and associated metastases. Otherwise, extensive radiotherapy involving all likely primary tumor localizations in the head and neck region is required. Substantial post-therapeutic impairment is to be expected, for example pro-

► Table 5 Overview of a selection of currently ongoing de-escalation trials on adjuvant therapy after TORS for OPSCC.

Abbrevia- tion	Title	Phase	Intervention	Primary outcome	NCT number
DART-HPV	A phase III evaluation of de-escalated adjuvant radiation therapy for HPV-associated oropharynx cancer	111	Reduced radiotherapy (30–36 Gy according to risk profile) with Docetaxel vs. 60 Gy with Cisplatin	Complication rate	02908477
PATHOS	A phase III trial of risk-stratified, reduced intensity adjuvant treatment in patients undergoing transoral surgery for HPV-positive oropharyngeal cancer	III	Intermediate risk group: 50 Gy vs. 60 Gy; high risk group: radiotherapy vs. radiochemotherapy	Swalloing, overall survival	02215265
MINT	Phase II trial of surgery followed by risk-directed post-operative adjuvant therapy for HPV-related oropharynx squamous cell carcinoma: "the minimalist trial (MINT)"	II	Low risk: 42 Gy, intermediate risk: 42 Gy + Cisplatin once, high risk: 60 Gy + 3 doses of Cisplatin (standard therapy)	Weight loss during adjuvant therapy	03621696

nounced limitations in swallowing, xerostomia and extensive mucosal atrophy [178]. The widespread establishment of FDG-PET/CT in CUP diagnostics has improved the identification rates for primary tumors in CUP syndromes, but according to corresponding studies these rates are still below 50 % without additional surgical diagnostics [179, 180]. For HPV-positive CUP, diagnostic surgery plays an important role. In the US, TORS is routinely used for this purpose and results are promising. If HPV-positivity is verified in the metastatic lymph node, a high probability of primary tumor localization in the oropharynx may be assumed. By means of a TORS palatal tonsillectomy and a TORS tongue base tonsillectomy, primary tumor detection has been shown to be successful in up to 89% of cases [181]. This also applies to patients with HPV-associated lymph node metastases where there is no evidence of a primary tumor localized in the oropharynx either on clinical examination or by imaging techniques such as conventional CT or PET/CT [182, 183]. Importantly, a complete tonsillectomy is considered superior to a biopsy for confirmation of the diagnosis. For identification of a primary tumor located in the area of the palatine tonsils, a meta-analysis showed a 10-fold increased odds ratio for successful tumor detection where a complete tonsillectomy was performed compared to a simple biopsy [184, 185]. Approximately 30% of previously undetected primary tumors in HPV-positive lymph node metastases are detected in the palatine tonsils, and over 60% in the base of the tongue, which is readily accessible by TORS (see Chapter 4) [186, 187]. The extent of diagnostic tongue base tonsillectomy by means of TORS should reach from the papillae circumvallatae to the vallecula and to the glossotonsillar fossae [188]. Notably, even in cases of unilateral lymph node metastases, the primary tumor may be located in the contralateral tongue base in 10% of cases, therefore bilateral diagnostic base of tongue resection is recommended [189]. The full extent of the procedure also increases the probability of a complete resection of the tumor during the diagnostic surgery. The rate of complete tumor resections after diagnostic TORS tongue base resection in the context of CUP syndrome has been shown to vary between 51% and 81% [189, 190]. Thus, compared with diagnostic imaging or biopsy sampling alone, diagnostic palatine tonsillectomy and tongue base tonsillectomy significantly increases the primary tumor identification

rate. In case of a complete surgical tumor excision, no further surgery of the primary tumor region may be required [191]. In any case, successful identification of the primary tumor reduces the extent of additionally required radiotherapy. The peri-operative risk profile of a tongue base tonsillectomy by TORS results mainly from the risk of post-operative bleeding, which is reported to be approximately 5 % [182, 183]. One study revealed minor impairment of food intake one year after TORS for CUP, however, there were no cases of permanent feeding tube dependance or tracheostomy [192].

Similar to resection of OPSCC, it is not possible to assess whether TORS offers an advantage over TLM in CUP diagnosis based on the current data. Comparative studies are not currently available. However, some of the above-mentioned studies include TLM and show comparable data regarding primary tumor detection. Thus, it is most likely that transoral surgery has an overall benefit in the diagnosis and treatment of head and neck carcinomas initially classified as CUP syndrome, especially HPV-associated OPSCC with primary tumor localization in the base of the tongue.

#### 5.2 Obstructive sleep apnea

In obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (OSA), apnea or hypopnea episodes occur while sleeping due to a collapse in the upper airway. Patients suffer from snoring, unrestful sleep and daytime sleepiness, and manifest OSA is also associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease [193]. The gold standard of OSA therapy is a continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) mask [194]. About 30% of the patients do not tolerate the CPAP device so that surgical therapy may be taken into consideration. Recent data suggest that that selected OSA patients with a hypertrophic tongue base might benefit from surgical treatment with TORS if certain criteria are met [195]. Candidates for surgery should have primarily lymphatic, rather than muscular, tongue base hypertrophy; also, a purely latero-pharyngeal collapse should be ruled out via drug-induced sleep endoscopy [196]. An algorithm for identifying appropriate OSA candidates for tongue base reduction using TORS was developed by Lin and co-authors based on a study of 72 patients (> Table 6) [197]. A reduction of the apnea-hypopnea index (AHI)

A recent meta-analysis of 31 studies showed a promising therapeutic response according to the above criteria of 69% after TORS in selected OSAS patients [198]. While no serious complications have been reported after TORS procedures in OSA patients, it should be noted that tongue base procedures can result in swallowing limitations. Paker and co-authors reported mild swallowing impairment in 32% of their treated patients in follow-up examinations 11 months after the procedure [199]. Overall, according to current knowledge, TORS for OSA is a procedure from which selected patients may benefit. Despite low complication rates, it is an invasive procedure with a specific risk profile that must be considered in patient selection and counseling.

# 6 Role of TORS for interventions in the larynx and hypopharynx

Structures anatomically located below the oropharynx, such as the supraglottis and glottis as well as the hypopharynx, present a greater challenge in terms of accessibility with the da Vinci system and the FLEX system. Although TORS for tumor resections in these in these anatomical regions areas is being investigated at some centers, it has not been established as standard therapy. Accordingly, mainly retrospective evidence from case series studies is available to date. Oncologic outcomes, complication rates, and quality of life assessments must be interpreted in this context: The patients included in the studies were usually specifically selected for the respective therapy, so that the parameters collected allow for an assessment of the potential patient benefit, but do not provide comparative data with respect to alternative forms of therapy.

▶ **Table 6**Algorithm for identification of suitable OSAS patients for reduction of the tongue base by means of TORS, according to Lin and co-authors [197].

Category		Score		
Body-Mass-Index	<30	0		
	30-40	1		
	>40	2		
Apnea-hypopnea index	<60	0		
	>60	1		
Lateral velopharyngeal collapse	No	0		
	Yes	1		
Therapy response to reduction of the tongue base by means of TORS according to the above-mentioned score $(n = 72)$				
0	86.7%			
1	71.4%			
2	25%			
3	16.7%			
4	0%			

#### 6.1 Supraglottic and glottic laryngeal carcinomas

Outside the oropharynx, TORS is most commonly used for the resection of supraglottic laryngeal carcinomas [200]. A recent metaanalysis by Lechien and co-authors on 422 patients with supraglottic laryngeal carcinomas showed good oncologic outcomes after TORS with the da Vinci system with 5-year recurrence-free survival rates of more than 90% [201]. In about 90% of the cases, the tumors were located in the area of the epiglottis or the aryepiglottic folds. 87.1% of included patients had stage T1 or T2 tumors at the time of surgery. Depending on the overall tumor stage, they received additional adjuvant radiotherapy. Prospective studies comparing TORS for supraglottic laryngeal carcinomas with open surgical procedures or primary radiotherapy are currently not available. However, retrospective comparisons suggest that for carefully selected patients, TORS offers equivalent oncologic outcomes compared with open surgery [200, 202]. Regarding peri- and post-operative complications, the above-mentioned meta-analysis reported a most likely aspiration-related pneumonia rate of 17.9%. Severe bleeding occurred in 6.9% of patients. The tracheostomy rate was 27.3%. While these data were gathered from surgeries using the da Vinci system, the tracheostomy rate in a study from the author's center on resection of supraglottic laryngeal carcinoma with the FLEX system was somewhat lower at 13%. We achieved excellent local tumor control rates over a 24-month follow-up period [74]. Functional data are scarce. Hans and co-authors report in a recent retrospective study of TORS for supraglottic laryngeal carcinoma using the da Vinci system that oral food intake was possible in 92% of the patients studied immediately after surgery. At the same time, the authors emphasize the risk for aspiration pneumonia after surgery, thus confirming the data of the above-mentioned meta-analysis by Lechien and co-authors [203]. While no studies comparing TORS for supraglottic laryngeal carcinoma with primary radiotherapy are available, some individual studies allow for an estimation of the significance of TORS compared to TLM. Regarding oncologic parameters, there seem to be no significant differences with regard to patient survival rates. The local tumor control rates tend to be slightly better after TORS compared to TLM, but the corresponding studies are not randomized, so that systematic errors in patient selection cannot be excluded [74, 204]. One could hypothesize that the use of TORS may improve three-dimensional visualization of a supraglottic tumor compared with TLM which is limited to one visual axis. A complete and ideally en-bloc resection may thus be easily feasible and contribute to improved local tumor control rates (> Fig. 8).

To date, TORS for the resection of glottic laryngeal carcinomas has been used predominantly in the context of feasibility studies. A US database analysis showed that from 2004–2014, less than 0.5% of all recorded glottic surgical procedures were robot-assisted [200]. Reaching the glottic level with robotic instruments is challenging depending on patient anatomy [205], at the same TLM is a well-established alternative transoral surgical method commonly used in Europe and some US centers. For stage T1 to T3 glottic laryngeal carcinomas, its use is associated with excellent oncologic and functional outcomes [79–81, 206]. To date, few oncologic and functional results are available after TORS for glottic laryngeal carcinomas, but the limited accessibility of the anterior commissure in particular seems to lead to an accumulation of local recurrences and increased synechiae formation in this area [207]. The latter may also be due to increased thermal damage. Overall, the available data do not yet allow a definitive assessment of patient benefit, let alone post-operative quality of life after robotic surgery in the larynx. While the application in the supraglottic region may offer advantages in terms of tumor resection and thus oncologic outcome for selected patients, there is no evidence yet for advantages of the application of TORS in the glottic region compared to established therapeutic procedures.

#### 6.2 Hypopharyngeal carcinomas

Over the past decade, primary TLM for hypopharyngeal carcinoma resection has been repeatedly shown to result in comparable oncologic outcomes compared with open surgery or primary radiation therapy [208–210]. Long-term preservation of the larynx is usually possible in this case. In contrast, open resection is often associated with complete laryngectomy and consequent loss of the natural voice due to the close proximity of the hypopharynx and the larynx and is associated with a significant loss of quality of life [211]. Due to the promising results in the above-mentioned studies related to transoral resection using TLM, investigations into the use of TORS for resection of hypopharyngeal carcinoma have been promoted in recent years. Potentially, the da Vinci system and the FLEX system could improve the visibility of the piriform sinus, the most common location of hypopharyngeal carcinoma, compared with TLM where the surgeon's view is limited to one visual axis. Similar to the use of TORS for supraglottic laryngeal carcinoma, there are currently no prospective studies comparing TORS with TLM or primary radiotherapy for hypopharyngeal carcinoma. However, some retrospective analyses of selected patient populations suggest that primary TORS can achieve at least comparable oncologic outcomes to TLM, open surgery, and primary radiotherapy [133, 212, 213]. In the studies, which included a total of 112 patients, laryngeal preservation was possible over the follow-up period in more than 90 % of the cases studied. Similar results were obtained using TLM [209]. Aside from organ and speech preservation, post-operative swallowing ability is of particular importance in patients with hypopharyngeal carcinoma with regard to quality of life. A standardized assessment of swallowing ability was performed by Park and co-authors, who demonstrated a FOSS score (see chapter 2.2.) of 0-2 (good outcome) in 76.3% of their total of 38 patients examined, while only one patient required permanent gastric tube placement. In the patient collective of Mazerolle and coauthors, too, only two of 57 patients permanently required a feeding tube [213]. Again, however, when interpreting the data, it should be noted that these are non-randomized studies with specifically selected patients. 66.7 % and 98 % of patients in the abovementioned studies had primary tumors staged T1 or T2, respectively, at the time of surgery. While primary surgical therapy using TLM for early stage hypopharyngeal carcinomas is also associated with good functional outcomes [214–216], a direct comparison is not possible because different parameters were used for quality of life assessment. Thus, for the application of TORS in hypopharyngeal carcinomas, the following applies analogously to supraglottic laryngeal carcinomas: TORS is possible in selected patients and is associated with oncologic outcomes comparable to alternative surgical and nonsurgical therapies. Statements on the benefit for patients regarding post-operative quality of life are only possible to a limited extent - TORS in primary tumors at an early stage, however, seems to be associated with good post-operative swallowing ability.



**Fig. 8** Transoral resection of a supraglottic laryngeal carcinoma of the right aryepiglottic fold with the FLEX system (Medrobotics, Raynham, USA). **a**. Before tumor resection. **b**. Intraoperative view. The superior laryngeal artery is ligated with a vascular clip. **c**. Magnified view of the marked area in B (white box) showing the vascular clips. **d**. View of the operative field after complete tumor resection. (source: own images; first published in *European Archives of Otorhinolaryngology 2020 Vol. 277 Issue 3 Pages 917–924*.).

# 7 Further application of robotic surgery in the head and neck

Further areas of application for robotic surgery in the head and neck region are presented below. For salivary gland and neck surgery, the da Vinci system is primarily used. For ear surgery, on the other hand, initial clinical results of the clinical application of the RobOtol system and the HEARO system are available.

#### 7.1 Salivary glands and neck surgery

Robotic salivary gland surgery is usually performed transorally. For benign or malignant salivary gland tumors in the oropharynx, the resection is usually performed analogously to oropharyngeal carcinomas and is associated with a similar benefit/risk profile. By means of TORS, the parapharyngeal space can be accessed, for example, for the resection of pleomorphic adenomas, schwannomas, or cysts in this area [217]. Cosmetic aspects due to the avoidance of an external scar are mentioned as advantages of the transoral approach, and, if applicable, reliable identification and preservation of the facial nerve via the transoral approach seems possible [218]. In carefully selected patients, complete parapharyngeal tumor removal seems to be possible via the transoral route in a reliable manner. However, in a recent meta-analysis of transoral robotic resection of tumors of the parapharyngeal space, de Virgilio and co-authors reported that the tumor capsule was opened intraoperatively in 14.5% of the cases studied, and tumor fragmentation occurred in 10.3% of cases [219]. In 90% of the treated cases, the tumors were not malignant; however, pleomorphic adenomas were histologically detected in the majority of cases. These benign tumors have a high probability of recurrence if opened intraoperatively, therefore the above complication rates are unacceptable.

The main reason for robotic surgery in the soft tissues of the neck is the avoidance of a clearly visible external scar. Larger studies are now available, especially from Asia, describing the results of robotic-assisted surgery for cervical lymph node surgery and thyroid gland surgery. The access route is usually via a modified facelift approach from behind the ear. In a meta-analysis of a total of 655 patients, Sukato and co-authors show comparable results for robotic neck dissection with the da Vinci system compared to conventional neck dissection with regard to post-operative complications such as postoperative bleeding, chyle fistulas, nerve damage and wound infections [220]. While the number of lymph nodes removed did not differ between the two approaches, patients were more satisfied with the cosmetic outcome after robotic neck dissection. However, the duration of surgery was significantly longer and exceeded three hours for a modified radical neck dissection even after an appropriate learning curve after several years of surgical experience [221]. It should also be noted that, to date, no results are available regarding long-term oncologic outcomes after robotic-assisted neck dissection compared with the conventional approach. In addition to the improved cosmetic outcome, another potential benefit for patients is that the surgical scar is typically not located directly in the main radiation field in patients requiring adjuvant therapy, which may help to avoid any delays in the start of radiation due to wound healing problems [222]. However, to date, there are no reliable scientific data supporting this theory.

For robot-assisted thyroid surgery, an axillary approach can be used, which has been well-established in endoscopic thyroid surgery for about 20 years. This, too, is to avoid visible scars [223]. The trans-axillary approach is preferred in Asian countries and was adapted for robotic-assisted surgery early on, so that today there is copious data available on robotic-assisted thyroid surgery. Tumors larger than 5 cm, a body mass index > 35 kg/m2 and thyroid diseases such as Hashimoto's thyroiditis or Graves' disease are considered contraindications for robot-assisted thyroid surgery [224]. Meta-analyses comparing the results of conventional thyroid surgery with the robotic-assisted approach show no differences in oncologic outcome or complication rates in large numbers of patients, especially with regard to iatrogenic damage to the recurrent laryngeal nerve [225, 226]. Consistently, however, all comparative studies show a significant prolongation of surgical time when using robotic technology for thyroid surgery.

For resections in the area of the submandibular gland, limited data on the use of robotic systems is available to date. In individual cases in which the da Vinci system was used for the resection of benign tumors, good cosmetic results were achieved; however, the duration of surgery was also significantly prolonged in this application compared with the conventional procedure[227].

In summary, robot-assisted salivary gland and neck surgery offers cosmetic advantages due to the access route, as an obvious scar can be avoided. However, comparable results can be achieved to some extent with established endoscopic techniques [228]. While longer-term oncologic results are already available for robotic thyroid surgery, it should be noted that, especially for roboticassisted neck dissection, no final conclusions on the long-term impact on oncologic disease progression can be drawn at this point. Thus, an evaluation of the most important parameter for potential patient benefit, namely the impact on cure and survival, is still pending. In all areas of application, the use of robotic technology significantly prolongs the duration of surgery.

#### 7.2 Ear surgery

Two robotic systems are currently being investigated in clinical trials for ear surgery, namely the RobOtol and HEARO systems from France and Switzerland previously introduced in chapter 3.2. So far, limited clinical data are available for both systems, yet their introduction is interesting in terms of patient benefit. Increasing surgical precision in ear surgery procedures has potential impact on post-operative hearing and thus patient quality of life.

The French RobOtol system is expected to help improve the surgeon's view during middle ear microsurgery procedures and also increase the precision of cochlear implant electrode insertion. In initial studies in middle ear surgery, the teleoperated system acted as an instrument holder for endoscopes. To avoid manual trauma to the ossicles and subsequent inner ear damage [229], the system was assessed regarding its benefit for an improved middle ear visualization [97]. Vittoria and co-authors report 21 cases in which the system was used in a feasibility study setting and the operations were performed successfully. Further studies comparing robotic-assisted surgery with conventionally performed procedures are currently pending. In addition, the RobOtol system has been studied in electrode insertion in adult and pediatric cochlear implantations [98, 230, 231]. Robotic insertion is expected to mi-

nimize intracochlear trauma and contribute to improved residual hearing preservation in patients. Preliminary results showed a lower dislocation rate for certain types of electrodes compared to manual insertion, potentially reducing insertion trauma. An assessment of the impact on functional outcome and potential benefit for patients is not yet possible due to the small number of cases and the varying baseline hearing ability of patients. Methodologically, a study by Jia and co-authors is interesting and therefore worth mentioning. The authors compared robotic insertion on one side and manual insertion on the other side in bilaterally fitted pediatric patients. However, since only six patients were included, no significant differences in post-operative hearing could be demonstrated to [231].

The HEARO system was developed for autonomous drilling of a transmastoidal approach to the middle and inner ear and subsequent robotic intracochlear cochlear implant insertion. In addition to a less invasive access route compared to manual implantation, which requires a mastoidectomy, the goal is to achieve the most atraumatic insertion of the electrode possible. Initial clinical feasibility studies show that the procedure was possible with the robotic system but could not be completed in all patients. In addition, the duration of surgery was significantly prolonged compared with the conventional approach [100, 232]. Comparative functional results are not yet available, so that an assessment of the potential patient benefit is pending.

### 8 Conclusion

A robust assessment of patient benefit and quality of life after robot-assisted head and neck surgery is currently possible for the use of TORS in oropharyngeal cancer resection. Here, extensive and long-term results are available, especially from the US. The basic requirements for the establishment of a new technology in the therapy of oncological diseases seem to be met: The primary patient benefit parameters cure and survival are not compromised compared to other forms of therapy, in this case open surgery and IMRT. The use TORS for the resection of oropharyngeal carcinoma appears to favor post-operative functional preservation compared to other treatment options, hereby potentially improving patients' quality of life. The study results reviewed in this article demonstrate that selected patients may benefit from TORS compared with open surgery, particularly with regard to post-operative swallowing ability. Compared with IMRT, TORS also appears to offer functional benefits, but primarily in cases of monomodal surgical treatment without adjuvant radiation. Notably, the majority of OPSCC patients currently still receives adjuvant therapy. Therefore, TORS as a primary treatment modality has a key role in ongoing treatment de-escalation trials for HPV-positive oropharyngeal cancer patients. In case of favorable study results, these patients with a high posttherapeutic life expectancy could benefit from the functional advantages of surgical therapy using TORS without, or with attenuated adjuvant radiotherapy.

In view of the increasing incidence of HPV-associated oropharyngeal carcinoma in Europe, both proportionally and in absolute terms, the low local prevalence of TORS use in Europe is surprising at first glance. This is most likely because in Europe, and particularly in Germany, TLM has been established for decades for the resection of oropharyngeal carcinomas and has been successfully established for the resection of oropharyngeal carcinomas with regards to oncologic and functional outcomes. In contrast, TLM never gained widespread acceptance in the US, and transoral procedures are now primarily performed using TORS. Unfortunately, comparative studies on TORS and TLM are currently hardly available due to the pronounced regional differences.

With regard to future studies on quality of life, the discrepancy between the multitude of available assessment tools, which are detailed at the beginning of the article, and their relatively rare use is remarkable. Many of the studies on the use of TORS in oropharyngeal cancer have focused on oncologic parameters and clinical indicators of quality of life such as duration of gastrostomy tube use or tracheostomy rates. Some ongoing treatment de-escalation studies are now using the appropriate tools to capture functional endpoints. The results could be used to provide a more detailed assessment of the different therapy modalities. In addition, the results may allow for an adaptation of therapy to individual patient preferences.

In the other application areas in the head and neck region, robot-assisted surgery is not established as standard treatment and is being evaluated at varying stages of clinical application. Longerterm retrospective studies are available for supraglottic TORS and robot-assisted thyroid surgery via external access routes. Here, selected patients may potentially benefit from its use in terms of functional and cosmetic aspects while maintaining oncologic outcomes. However, prospective studies comparing robot-assisted surgery with alternative therapeutic procedures are currently pending. The well-established da Vinci and FLEX systems are used for the above-mentioned non-oropharynx transoral and transcervical procedures. In contrast, robotic systems for ear surgery and paranasal sinus and skull base surgery are still in much earlier stages of development. Detailed statements on patient benefit and quality of life are not yet possible.

#### **Conflict of Interest**

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### References

- McCulloch P et al. Progress in clinical research in surgery and IDEAL. Lancet 2018; 392: 88–94
- [2] Kwoh YS et al. A robot with improved absolute positioning accuracy for CT guided stereotactic brain surgery. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 1988; 35: 153–160
- [3] Hockstein NG, O'Malley BW Jr., Weinstein GS. Assessment of intraoperative safety in transoral robotic surgery. Laryngoscope 2006; 116: 165–168
- O'Malley BW Jr., Weinstein GS, Hockstein NG. Transoral robotic surgery (TORS): glottic microsurgery in a canine model. J Voice 2006; 20: 263–268
- [5] Hockstein NG et al. Robotic microlaryngeal surgery: a technical feasibility study using the daVinci surgical robot and an airway mannequin. Laryngoscope 2005; 115: 780–785

- [6] Weinstein GS, O'Malley WB Jr., Hockstein NG. Transoral robotic surgery: supraglottic laryngectomy in a canine model. Laryngoscope 2005; 115: 1315–1319
- [7] O'Malley BW Jr. et al. Transoral robotic surgery (TORS) for base of tongue neoplasms. Laryngoscope 2006; 116: 1465–1472
- [8] Chen AY. A shifting paradigm for patients with head and neck cancer: transoral robotic surgery (TORS). Oncology (Williston Park) 2010; 24: 1030. 1032
- [9] Bhayani MK, Holsinger FC, Lai SY. A shifting paradigm for patients with head and neck cancer: transoral robotic surgery (TORS). Oncology (Williston Park) 2010; 24: 1010–1015
- [10] Ang KK et al. Human papillomavirus and survival of patients with oropharyngeal cancer. N Engl J Med 2010; 363: 24–35
- [11] Gillison ML et al. Epidemiology of Human Papillomavirus-Positive Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 3235–3242
- [12] Steiner W. Experience in endoscopic laser surgery of malignant tumours of the upper aero-digestive tract. Adv Otorhinolaryngol 1988; 39: 135–144
- [13] Porter ME. What is value in health care? N Engl J Med 2010; 363: 2477–2481
- [14] McNeil BJ, Weichselbaum R, Pauker SG. Speech and survival: tradeoffs between quality and quantity of life in laryngeal cancer. N Engl J Med 1981; 305: 982–987
- [15] van der Donk J et al. Patient participation in clinical decision-making for treatment of T3 laryngeal cancer: a comparison of state and process utilities. J Clin Oncol 1995; 13: 2369–2378
- [16] Hamilton DW et al. Quality compared to quantity of life in laryngeal cancer: A time trade-off study. Head Neck 2016; 38: E631–E637
- [17] Laccourreye O et al. Total laryngectomy or laryngeal preservation for advanced laryngeal cancer. Impact of the functional risk upon the patient's preferences. Eur Ann Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Dis 2014; 131: 93–97
- [18] Blanchard P et al. Assessing head and neck cancer patient preferences and expectations: A systematic review. Oral Oncol 2016; 62: 44–53
- [19] Brehaut JC et al. Validation of a decision regret scale. Med Decis Making 2003; 23: 281–292
- [20] Gill SS et al. Priorities for the head and neck cancer patient, their companion and members of the multidisciplinary team and decision regret. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2011; 23: 518–524
- [21] Chaturvedi AK et al. Human papillomavirus and rising oropharyngeal cancer incidence in the United States. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 4294–4301
- [22] Ringash J. Survivorship and Quality of Life in Head and Neck Cancer. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 3322–3327
- [23] Pow EH et al. Xerostomia and quality of life after intensity-modulated radiotherapy vs. conventional radiotherapy for early-stage nasopharyngeal carcinoma: initial report on a randomized controlled clinical trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2006; 66: 981–991
- [24] Rathod S et al. Quality of life (QOL) outcomes in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) treated with intensitymodulated radiation therapy (IMRT) compared to three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy (3D-CRT): evidence from a prospective randomized study. Oral Oncol 2013; 49: 634–642
- [25] Nutting CM et al. Parotid-sparing intensity modulated versus conventional radiotherapy in head and neck cancer (PARSPORT): a phase 3 multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2011; 12: 127–136
- [26] de Almeida JR et al. A systematic review of transoral robotic surgery and radiotherapy for early oropharynx cancer: a systematic review. Laryngoscope 2014; 124: 2096–2102

- [27] Charters E et al. Swallowing and communication outcomes following primary transoral robotic surgery. Head Neck 2021; 43: 2013–2023
- [28] Jalukar V et al. Health states following head and neck cancer treatment: patient, health-care professional, and public perspectives. Head Neck 1998; 20: 600–608
- [29] List MA et al. How Do head and neck cancer patients prioritize treatment outcomes before initiating treatment? J Clin Oncol 2000; 18: 877–884
- [30] List MA et al. Prioritizing treatment outcomes: head and neck cancer patients versus nonpatients. Head Neck 2004; 26: 163–170
- [31] Sharp HM et al. Patients' priorities among treatment effects in head and neck cancer: evaluation of a new assessment tool. Head Neck 1999; 21: 538–546
- [32] Kanatas A et al. Issues patients would like to discuss at their review consultation: variation by early and late stage oral, oropharyngeal and laryngeal subsites. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2013; 270: 1067–1074
- [33] Brotherston DC et al. Patient preferences for oropharyngeal cancer treatment de-escalation. Head Neck 2013; 35: 151–159
- [34] Hodder SC et al. Multiattribute utility assessment of outcomes of treatment for head and neck cancer. Br J Cancer 1997; 75: 898–902
- [35] Rogers SN et al. Importance-rating using the University of Washington quality of life questionnaire in patients treated by primary surgery for oral and oro-pharyngeal cancer. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2002; 30: 125–132
- [36] Govender R et al. Speech and swallowing rehabilitation following head and neck cancer: are we hearing the patient's voice? Our experience with ten patients. Clin Otolaryngol 2013; 38: 433–437
- [37] Tschiesner U et al. Priorities of head and neck cancer patients: a patient survey based on the brief ICF core set for HNC. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2013; 270: 3133–3142
- [38] Mehnert A, de Boer A, Feuerstein M. Employment challenges for cancer survivors. Cancer 2013; 119: 2151–2159
- [39] Guyatt GH, Feeny DH, Patrick DL. Measuring health-related quality of life. Ann Intern Med 1993; 118: 622–629
- [40] Windon MJ et al. Priorities of human papillomavirus-associated oropharyngeal cancer patients at diagnosis and after treatment. Oral Oncol 2019; 95: 11–15
- [41] Terrell JE et al. Clinical predictors of quality of life in patients with head and neck cancer. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2004; 130: 401–408
- [42] Rogers SN et al. Patients experience with long-term percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy feeding following primary surgery for oral and oropharyngeal cancer. Oral Oncol 2007; 43: 499–507
- [43] Grant DG et al. Complications following gastrostomy tube insertion in patients with head and neck cancer: a prospective multi-institution study, systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Otolaryngol 2009; 34: 103–112
- [44] Paleri V, Patterson J. Use of gastrostomy in head and neck cancer: a systematic review to identify areas for future research. Clin Otolaryngol 2010; 35: 177–189
- [45] Heah H et al. Decreased gastrostomy tube incidence and weight loss after transoral robotic surgery for low- to intermediate-risk oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Head Neck 2018; 40: 2507–2513
- [46] Achim V et al. Long-term Functional and Quality of Life Outcomes After Transoral Robotic Surgery in Patients With Oropharyngeal Cancer. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2018; 144: 18–27
- [47] Peng LC et al. Prospective evaluation of patient reported swallow function with the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy (FACT), MD Anderson Dysphagia Inventory (MDADI) and the Sydney Swallow Questionnaire (SSQ) in head and neck cancer patients. Oral Oncol 2018; 84: 25–30

- [48] List MA et al. The Performance Status Scale for Head and Neck Cancer Patients and the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy-Head and Neck Scale. A study of utility and validity. Cancer 1996; 77: 2294–2301
- [49] Salassa JR. A functional outcome swallowing scale for staging oropharyngeal dysphagia. Dig Dis 1999; 17: 230–234
- [50] Belafsky PC et al. Validity and reliability of the Eating Assessment Tool (EAT-10). Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2008; 117: 919–924
- [51] Cheney DM et al. The Ability of the 10-Item Eating Assessment Tool (EAT-10) to Predict Aspiration Risk in Persons With Dysphagia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2015; 124: 351–354
- [52] Florie M et al. EAT-10 Scores and Fiberoptic Endoscopic Evaluation of Swallowing in Head and Neck Cancer Patients. Laryngoscope 2021; 131: E45–E51
- [53] Chen AY et al. The development and validation of a dysphagia-specific quality of life questionnaire for patients with head and neck cancer: the M. D. Anderson dysphagia inventory. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2001; 127: 870–876
- [54] Iseli TA et al. Functional outcomes after transoral robotic surgery for head and neck cancer. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2009; 141: 166–171
- [55] Kelly AM, Drinnan MJ, Leslie P. Assessing penetration and aspiration: how do videofluoroscopy and fiberoptic endoscopic evaluation of swallowing compare? Laryngoscope 2007; 117: 1723–1727
- [56] Hutcheson KA et al. Dynamic Imaging Grade of Swallowing Toxicity (DIGEST): Scale development and validation. Cancer 2017; 123: 62–70
- [57] Hutcheson KA et al. Dysphagia After Primary Transoral Robotic Surgery With Neck Dissection vs Nonsurgical Therapy in Patients With Low- to Intermediate-Risk Oropharyngeal Cancer. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2019; 145: 1053–1063
- [58] Ojo B et al. A systematic review of head and neck cancer quality of life assessment instruments. Oral Oncol 2012; 48: 923–937
- [59] Bjordal K et al. Quality of life in head and neck cancer patients: validation of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire-H&N35. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17: 1008–1019
- [60] Osoba D et al. Analysis and interpretation of health-related quality of life data from clinical trials: basic approach of The National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group. Eur J Cancer 2005; 41: 280–287
- [61] El-Deiry MW et al. Influences and predictors of long-term quality of life in head and neck cancer survivors. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2009; 135: 380–384
- [62] Rosenthal DI et al. Measuring head and neck cancer symptom burden: the development and validation of the M. D. Anderson symptom inventory, head and neck module. Head Neck 2007; 29: 923–931
- [63] Amit M et al. Patient-reported outcomes of symptom burden in patients receiving surgical or nonsurgical treatment for low-intermediate risk oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma: A comparative analysis of a prospective registry. Oral Oncol 2019; 91: 13–20
- [64] Ling DC et al. Oncologic outcomes and patient-reported quality of life in patients with oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma treated with definitive transoral robotic surgery versus definitive chemoradiation. Oral Oncol 2016; 61: 41–46
- [65] Schuler PJ. Robotic Surgery Who is The Boss?. Laryngorhinootologie 2018; 97: S231–S278
- [66] Schuler PJ et al. Robot-assisted head and neck surgery. HNO 2021; 69: 131–139
- [67] Moon AS et al. Robotic Surgery in Gynecology. Surg Clin North Am 2020; 100: 445–460

- [68] Mikhail D et al. Urologic Robotic Surgery. Surg Clin North Am 2020; 100: 361–378
- [69] Park YM et al. The First Human Trial of Transoral Robotic Surgery Using a Single-Port Robotic System in the Treatment of Laryngo-Pharyngeal Cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2019; 26: 4472–4480
- [70] Mendelsohn AH, Lawson G. Single-port transoral robotic surgery hypopharyngectomy. Head Neck 2021
- [71] Orosco RK et al. Transoral supraglottic laryngectomy using a next-generation single-port robotic surgical system. Head Neck 2019; 41: 2143–2147
- [72] Hasskamp P et al. First use of a new retractor in transoral robotic surgery (TORS). Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2016; 273: 1913–1917
- [73] Lang S et al. A european multicenter study evaluating the flex robotic system in transoral robotic surgery. Laryngoscope 2017; 127: 391–395
- [74] Hussain T et al. The Flex robotic system compared to transoral laser microsurgery for the resection of supraglottic carcinomas: first results and preliminary oncologic outcomes. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2020; 277: 917–924
- [75] Mattheis S et al. Transoral resection of supraglottic laryngeal tumors with the Flex Robotic System. HNO 2020
- [76] Blanco RG et al. Transoral robotic surgery of the vocal cord. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2011; 21: 157–159
- [77] Kayhan FT, Kaya KH, Sayin I. Transoral robotic cordectomy for early glottic carcinoma. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2012; 121: 497–502
- [78] Lallemant B et al. Transoral robotic surgery for the treatment of T1-T2 carcinoma of the larynx: preliminary study. Laryngoscope 2013; 123: 2485–2490
- [79] Canis M et al. Transoral laser microsurgery for T1a glottic cancer: review of 404 cases. Head Neck 2015; 37: 889–895
- [80] Canis M et al. Transoral laser microsurgery in treatment of pT2 and pT3 glottic laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma – results of 391 patients. Head Neck 2014; 36: 859–866
- [81] Canis M et al. Results of 226 patients with T3 laryngeal carcinoma after treatment with transoral laser microsurgery. Head Neck 2014; 36: 652–659
- [82] Kassam AB et al. The Operating Room of the Future Versus the Future of the Operating Room. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2017; 50: 655–671
- [83] Mattheis S et al. First Use of a New Robotic Endoscope Guiding System in Endoscopic Orbital Decompression. Ear Nose Throat J 2019; 145561319885803
- [84] Friedrich DT et al. An Innovate Robotic Endoscope Guidance System for Transnasal Sinus and Skull Base Surgery: Proof of Concept. J Neurol Surg B Skull Base 2017; 78: 466–472
- [85] Kristin J et al. Development of a new endoscope holder for head and neck surgery--from the technical design concept to implementation. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2015; 272: 1239–1244
- [86] Marinho MM et al. SmartArm: Integration and validation of a versatile surgical robotic system for constrained workspaces. Int J Med Robot 2020; 16: e2053
- [87] Swaney PJ et al. Endonasal Skull Base Tumor Removal Using Concentric Tube Continuum Robots: A Phantom Study. J Neurol Surg B Skull Base 2015; 76: 145–149
- [88] Gilbert H et al. A robot for transnasal surgery featuring needle-sized tentacle-like arms. Expert Rev Med Devices 2014; 11: 5–7
- [89] Kratchman LB et al. Force Perception Thresholds in Cochlear Implantation Surgery. Audiol Neurootol 2016; 21: 244–249
- [90] Riojas KE, Labadie RF. Robotic Ear Surgery. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2020; 53: 1065–1075

- [91] Labadie RF et al. Minimally invasive image-guided cochlear implantation surgery: first report of clinical implementation. Laryngoscope 2014; 124: 1915–1922
- [92] Yoo MH et al. A cadaver study of mastoidectomy using an imageguided human-robot collaborative control system. Laryngoscope Investig Otolaryngol 2017; 2: 208–214
- [93] Rothbaum DL et al. Robot-assisted stapedotomy: micropick fenestration of the stapes footplate. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2002; 127: 417–426
- [94] Liu WP et al. Cadaveric feasibility study of da Vinci Si-assisted cochlear implant with augmented visual navigation for otologic surgery. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2014; 140: 208–214
- [95] Hofer M et al. A surgical micromanipulator in ear surgery: potential and comparison to freehand preparation. HNO 2012; 60: 109–116
- [96] Yasin R et al. Steerable Robot-assisted Micromanipulation in the Middle Ear: Preliminary Feasibility Evaluation. Otol Neurotol 2017; 38: 290–295
- [97] Vittoria S et al. Robot-based assistance in middle ear surgery and cochlear implantation: first clinical report. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2021; 278: 77–85
- [98] Daoudi H et al. Robot-assisted Cochlear Implant Electrode Array Insertion in Adults: A Comparative Study With Manual Insertion. Otol Neurotol 2021; 42: e438–e444
- [99] Dillon NP et al. Cadaveric Testing of Robot-Assisted Access to the Internal Auditory Canal for Vestibular Schwannoma Removal. Otol Neurotol 2017; 38: 441–447
- [100] Caversaccio M et al. Robotic middle ear access for cochlear implantation: First in man. PLoS One 2019; 14: e0220543
- [101] Bray F et al. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68: 394–424
- [102] Leemans CR, Snijders PJF, Brakenhoff RH. The molecular landscape of head and neck cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2018; 18: 269–282
- [103] Mahal BA et al. Incidence and Demographic Burden of HPV-Associated Oropharyngeal Head and Neck Cancers in the United States. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2019; 28: 1660–1667
- [104] Marur S, Forastiere AA. Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma: Update on Epidemiology, Diagnosis, and Treatment. Mayo Clin Proc 2016; 91: 386–396
- [105] Wittekindt C et al. Increasing Incidence rates of Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma in Germany and Significance of Disease Burden Attributed to Human Papillomavirus. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 2019; 12: 375–382
- [106] Wuerdemann N et al. Risk Factors for Overall Survival Outcome in Surgically Treated Human Papillomavirus-Negative and Positive Patients with Oropharyngeal Cancer. Oncol Res Treat 2017; 40: 320–327
- [107] O'Sullivan B et al. Outcomes of HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer patients treated by radiotherapy alone using altered fractionation. Radiother Oncol 2012; 103: 49–56
- [108] O'Sullivan B et al. Development and validation of a staging system for HPV-related oropharyngeal cancer by the International Collaboration on Oropharyngeal cancer Network for Staging (ICON-S): a multicentre cohort study. Lancet Oncol 2016; 17: 440–451
- [109] Haughey BH, Sinha P. Prognostic factors and survival unique to surgically treated p16+oropharyngeal cancer. Laryngoscope 2012; 122: S13–S33
- [110] Cohen MA et al. Transoral robotic surgery and human papillomavirus status: Oncologic results. Head Neck 2011; 33: 573–580
- [111] Moore EJ et al. Transoral robotic surgery for oropharyngeal carcinoma: Surgical margins and oncologic outcomes. Head Neck 2018; 40: 747–755

- [112] Machtay M et al. Factors associated with severe late toxicity after concurrent chemoradiation for locally advanced head and neck cancer: an RTOG analysis. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26: 3582–3589
- [113] Garden AS et al. Disease-control rates following intensity-modulated radiation therapy for small primary oropharyngeal carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007; 67: 438–444
- [114] Chen MM, Holsinger FC. Morbidity and Mortality Associated With Robotic Head and Neck Surgery: An Inquiry of the Food and Drug Administration Manufacturer and User Facility Device Experience Database. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016; 142: 405–406
- [115] Chia SH, Gross ND, Richmon JD. Surgeon experience and complications with Transoral Robotic Surgery (TORS). Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2013; 149: 885–892
- [116] Pollei TR et al. Analysis of postoperative bleeding and risk factors in transoral surgery of the oropharynx. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2013; 139: 1212–1218
- [117] Weinstein GS et al. Transoral robotic surgery: a multicenter study to assess feasibility, safety, and surgical margins. Laryngoscope 2012; 122: 1701–1707
- [118] Laccourreye O et al. Postoperative hemorrhage after transoral oropharyngectomy for cancer of the lateral oropharynx. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2015; 124: 361–367
- [119] Asher SA et al. Hemorrhage after transoral robotic-assisted surgery. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2013; 149: 112–117
- [120] Lorincz BB et al. Functional outcomes, feasibility, and safety of resection of transoral robotic surgery: single-institution series of 35 consecutive cases of transoral robotic surgery for oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Head Neck 2015; 37: 1618–1624
- [121] Moore EJ et al. Long-term functional and oncologic results of transoral robotic surgery for oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Mayo Clin Proc 2012; 87: 219–225
- [122] Vergez S et al. Initial multi-institutional experience with transoral robotic surgery. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2012; 147: 475–481
- [123] Bollig CA et al. Prophylactic arterial ligation following transoral robotic surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Head Neck 2020; 42: 739–746
- [124] Sethi RKV, Chen MM, Malloy KM. Complications of Transoral Robotic Surgery. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2020; 53: 1109–1115
- [125] Kubik M et al. Effect of transcervical arterial ligation on the severity of postoperative hemorrhage after transoral robotic surgery. Head Neck 2017; 39: 1510–1515
- [126] Hockstein NG, Weinstein GS, O'Malley WB Jr. Maintenance of hemostasis in transoral robotic surgery. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec 2005; 67: 220–224
- [127] Goepfert RP et al. Symptom burden as a driver of decisional regret in long-term oropharyngeal carcinoma survivors. Head Neck 2017; 39: 2151–2158
- [128] Aubry K et al. Morbidity and mortality revue of the French group of transoral robotic surgery: a multicentric study. J Robot Surg 2016; 10: 63–67
- [129] Albergotti WG et al. A prospective evaluation of short-term dysphagia after transoral robotic surgery for squamous cell carcinoma of the oropharynx. Cancer 2017; 123: 3132–3140
- [130] Choby GW et al. Transoral robotic surgery alone for oropharyngeal cancer: quality of life outcomes. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2015; 141: 499–504
- [131] Leonhardt FD et al. Transoral robotic surgery for oropharyngeal carcinoma and its impact on patient-reported quality of life and function. Head Neck 2012; 34: 146–154
- [132] More YI et al. Functional swallowing outcomes following transoral robotic surgery vs primary chemoradiotherapy in patients with advanced-stage oropharynx and supraglottis cancers. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2013; 139: 43–48

- [133] Park YM et al. The long-term oncological and functional outcomes of transoral robotic surgery in patients with hypopharyngeal cancer. Oral Oncol 2017; 71: 138–143
- [134] Genden EM et al. Transoral robotic resection and reconstruction for head and neck cancer. Laryngoscope 2011; 121: p 1668–1674
- [135] Ryan WR et al. Oncologic outcomes of human papillomavirus-associated oropharynx carcinoma treated with surgery alone: A 12-institution study of 344 patients. Cancer 2021
- [136] Liederbach E et al. The national landscape of human papillomavirusassociated oropharynx squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer 2017; 140: 504–512
- [137] Ford SE et al. Transoral robotic versus open surgical approaches to oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma by human papillomavirus status. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2014; 151: 606–611
- [138] Mahmoud O et al. Transoral robotic surgery for oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma in the era of human papillomavirus. Head Neck 2018; 40: 710–721
- [139] Jefferson GD, Frey H. Open Versus Robotic Surgery for Oropharyngeal Cancer. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2020; 53: 995–1003
- [140] Sload R et al. The Role of Transoral Robotic Surgery in the Management of HPV Negative Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Curr Oncol Rep 2016; 18: 53
- [141] Biron VL et al. Transoral robotic surgery with radial forearm free flap reconstruction: case control analysis. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2017; 46: 20
- [142] Kwan BYM et al. Transoral robotic surgery for head and neck malignancies: Imaging features in presurgical workup. Head Neck 2019; 41: 4018–4025
- [143] Gun R et al. Transoral Surgical Anatomy and Clinical Considerations of Lateral Oropharyngeal Wall, Parapharyngeal Space, and Tongue Base. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016; 154: 480–485
- [144] Dziegielewski PT et al. The mandibulotomy: friend or foe? Safety outcomes and literature review. Laryngoscope 2009; 119: 2369– 2375
- [145] Dziegielewski PT et al. The lip-splitting mandibulotomy: aesthetic and functional outcomes. Oral Oncol 2010; 46: 612–617
- [146] White H et al. Salvage surgery for recurrent cancers of the oropharynx: comparing TORS with standard open surgical approaches. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2013; 139: 773–778
- [147] Lee SY et al. Comparison of oncologic and functional outcomes after transoral robotic lateral oropharyngectomy versus conventional surgery for T1 to T3 tonsillar cancer. Head Neck 2014; 36: 1138– 1145
- [148] Cracchiolo JR et al. Increase in primary surgical treatment of T1 and T2 oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma and rates of adverse pathologic features: National Cancer Data Base. Cancer 2016; 122: 1523–1532
- [149] Parsons JT et al. Squamous cell carcinoma of the oropharynx: surgery, radiation therapy, or both. Cancer 2002; 94: 2967–2980
- [150] Steiner W et al. Transoral laser microsurgery for squamous cell carcinoma of the base of the tongue. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2003; 129: 36–43
- [151] Chen AY et al. Changes in treatment of advanced oropharyngeal cancer, 1985-2001. Laryngoscope 2007; 117: 16–21
- [152] Nichols AC et al. Radiotherapy versus transoral robotic surgery and neck dissection for oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma (ORATOR): an open-label, phase 2, randomised trial. Lancet Oncol 2019; 20: 1349–1359
- [153] Sinha P et al. Survival for HPV-positive oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma with surgical versus non-surgical treatment approach: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Oral Oncol 2018; 86: 121–131

- [154] Wang MB et al. HPV-Positive Oropharyngeal Carcinoma: A Systematic Review of Treatment and Prognosis. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2015; 153: 758–769
- [155] Baudelet M et al. Very late xerostomia, dysphagia, and neck fibrosis after head and neck radiotherapy. Head Neck 2019; 41: 3594–3603
- [156] Yeh DH et al. Transoral robotic surgery vs. radiotherapy for management of oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma - A systematic review of the literature. Eur J Surg Oncol 2015; 41: 1603–1614
- [157] Setton J et al. A multi-institution pooled analysis of gastrostomy tube dependence in patients with oropharyngeal cancer treated with definitive intensity-modulated radiotherapy. Cancer 2015; 121: 294–301
- [158] Chen AM et al. Comparison of functional outcomes and quality of life between transoral surgery and definitive chemoradiotherapy for oropharyngeal cancer. Head Neck 2015; 37: 381–385
- [159] Doescher J, Veit JA, Hoffmann TK. The 8th edition of the AJCC Cancer Staging Manual : Updates in otorhinolaryngology, head and neck surgery. HNO 2017; 65: 956–961
- [160] Huang SH et al. Primary surgery versus (chemo)radiotherapy in oropharyngeal cancer: the radiation oncologist's and medical oncologist's perspectives. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2015; 23: 139–147
- [161] Lazarus CL et al. Prospective instrumental evaluation of swallowing, tongue function, and QOL measures following transoral robotic surgery alone without adjuvant therapy. Head Neck 2019; 41: 322–328
- [162] Huang SH et al. Refining American Joint Committee on Cancer/Union for International Cancer Control TNM stage and prognostic groups for human papillomavirus-related oropharyngeal carcinomas. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 836–845
- [163] Spector ME et al. Patterns of nodal metastasis and prognosis in human papillomavirus-positive oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Head Neck 2014; 36: 1233–1240
- [164] Lewis JS Jr. et al. Extracapsular extension is a poor predictor of disease recurrence in surgically treated oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Mod Pathol 2011; 24: 1413–1420
- [165] Sinha P et al. High metastatic node number, not extracapsular spread or N-classification is a node-related prognosticator in transorallyresected, neck-dissected p16-positive oropharynx cancer. Oral Oncol 2015; 51: 514–520
- [166] Maxwell JH et al. Extracapsular spread in head and neck carcinoma: impact of site and human papillomavirus status. Cancer 2013; 119: 3302–3308
- [167] Shevach J et al. Extracapsular extension is associated with worse distant control and progression-free survival in patients with lymph node-positive human papillomavirus-related oropharyngeal carcinoma. Oral Oncol 2017; 74: 56–61
- [168] Kompelli AR et al. Prognostic Impact of High-Risk Pathologic Features in HPV-Related Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma and Tobacco Use. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2019; 160: 855–861
- [169] Bauer E et al. Extranodal extension is a strong prognosticator in HPV-positive oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Laryngoscope 2020; 130: 939–945
- [170] Freitag J et al. Extracapsular extension of neck nodes and absence of human papillomavirus 16-DNA are predictors of impaired survival in p16-positive oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer 2020; 126: 1856–1872
- [171] Swisher-McClure S et al. A Phase 2 Trial of Alternative Volumes of Oropharyngeal Irradiation for De-intensification (AVOID): Omission of the Resected Primary Tumor Bed After Transoral Robotic Surgery for Human Papilloma Virus-Related Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Oropharynx. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2020; 106: 725–732

- [172] Ma DJ et al. Phase II Evaluation of Aggressive Dose De-Escalation for Adjuvant Chemoradiotherapy in Human Papillomavirus-Associated Oropharynx Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37: 1909–1918
- [173] Ferris RL et al. Transoral robotic surgical resection followed by randomization to low- or standard-dose IMRT in resectable p16+locally advanced oropharynx cancer: A trial of the ECOG-ACRIN Cancer Research Group (E3311). Journal of Clinical Oncology 2020; 38:
- [174] Waltonen JD et al. Metastatic carcinoma of the neck of unknown primary origin: evolution and efficacy of the modern workup. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2009; 135: 1024–1029
- [175] Strojan P et al. Contemporary management of lymph node metastases from an unknown primary to the neck: II. a review of therapeutic options. Head Neck 2013; 35: 286–293
- [176] Schroeder L et al. Human papillomavirus as prognostic marker with rising prevalence in neck squamous cell carcinoma of unknown primary: A retrospective multicentre study. Eur J Cancer 2017; 74: 73–81
- [177] Stenmark MH et al. Influence of human papillomavirus on the clinical presentation of oropharyngeal carcinoma in the United States. Laryngoscope 2017; 127: 2270–2278
- [178] Madani I et al. Intensity-modulated radiotherapy for cervical lymph node metastases from unknown primary cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008; 71: 1158–1166
- [179] Dong MJ et al. Role of fluorodeoxyglucose-PET versus fluorodeoxyglucose-PET/computed tomography in detection of unknown primary tumor: a meta-analysis of the literature. Nucl Med Commun 2008; 29: 791–802
- [180] Zhu L, Wang N. 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography-computed tomography as a diagnostic tool in patients with cervical nodal metastases of unknown primary site: a metaanalysis. Surg Oncol 2013; 22: 190–194
- [181] Cianchetti M et al. Diagnostic evaluation of squamous cell carcinoma metastatic to cervical lymph nodes from an unknown head and neck primary site. Laryngoscope 2009; 119: 2348–2354
- [182] Fu TS et al. The role of transoral robotic surgery, transoral laser microsurgery, and lingual tonsillectomy in the identification of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma of unknown primary origin: a systematic review. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016; 45: 28
- [183] Farooq S et al. Transoral tongue base mucosectomy for the identification of the primary site in the work-up of cancers of unknown origin: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Oral Oncol 2019; 91: 97–106
- [184] Di Maio P et al. Role of palatine tonsillectomy in the diagnostic workup of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma of unknown primary origin: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Head Neck 2019; 41: 1112–1121
- [185] Waltonen JD et al. Tonsillectomy vs. deep tonsil biopsies in detecting occult tonsil tumors. Laryngoscope 2009; 119: 102–106
- [186] Karni RJ et al. Transoral laser microsurgery: a new approach for unknown primaries of the head and neck. Laryngoscope 2011; 121: 1194–1201
- [187] Mehta V et al. A new paradigm for the diagnosis and management of unknown primary tumors of the head and neck: a role for transoral robotic surgery. Laryngoscope 2013; 123: 146–151
- [188] de Almeida JR. Role of Transoral Robotic Surgery in the Work-up of the Unknown Primary. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2020; 53: 965–980
- [189] Geltzeiler M et al. Transoral robotic surgery for management of cervical unknown primary squamous cell carcinoma: Updates on efficacy, surgical technique and margin status. Oral Oncol 2017; 66: 9–13

- [190] Meccariello G et al. The emerging role of trans-oral robotic surgery for the detection of the primary tumour site in patients with head-neck unknown primary cancers: A meta-analysis. Auris Nasus Larynx 2019; 46: 663–671
- [191] Grewal AS et al. Pharyngeal-sparing radiation for head and neck carcinoma of unknown primary following TORS assisted work-up. Laryngoscope 2020; 130: 691–697
- [192] Ozbay I et al. One-year quality of life and functional outcomes of transoral robotic surgery for carcinoma of unknown primary. Head Neck 2017; 39: 1596–1602
- [193] Bradley TD, Floras JS. Obstructive sleep apnoea and its cardiovascular consequences. Lancet 2009; 373: 82–93
- [194] McEvoy RD et al. CPAP for Prevention of Cardiovascular Events in Obstructive Sleep Apnea. N Engl J Med 2016; 375: 919–931
- [195] Kovatch KJ, Ali SA, Hoff PT. The Rise of Upper Airway Stimulation in the Era of Transoral Robotic Surgery for Obstructive Sleep Apnea. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2020; 53: 1017–1029
- [196] Hoff PT, D'Agostino MA, Thaler ER. Transoral robotic surgery in benign diseases including obstructive sleep apnea: Safety and feasibility. Laryngoscope 2015; 125: 1249–1253
- [197] Lin HS et al. Transoral robotic surgery for treatment of obstructive sleep apnea: factors predicting surgical response. Laryngoscope 2015; 125: 1013–1020
- [198] Lechien JR et al. Surgical, clinical, and functional outcomes of transoral robotic surgery used in sleep surgery for obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Head Neck 2021; 43: 2216–2239
- [199] Paker M et al. Long-term swallowing performance following transoral robotic surgery for obstructive sleep apnea. Laryngoscope 2019; 129: 422–428
- [200] Hanna J et al. Is robotic surgery an option for early T-stage laryngeal cancer? Early nationwide results. Laryngoscope 2020; 130: 1195–1201
- [201] Lechien JR et al. Surgical, clinical and functional outcomes of transoral robotic surgery for supraglottic laryngeal cancers: A systematic review. Oral Oncol 2020; 109: 104848
- [202] Karabulut B et al. Comparison of functional and oncological treatment outcomes after transoral robotic surgery and open surgery for supraglottic laryngeal cancer. J Laryngol Otol 2018; 132: 832–836
- [203] Hans S et al. Surgical, Oncological, and Functional Outcomes of Transoral Robotic Supraglottic Laryngectomy. Laryngoscope 2021; 131: 1060–1065
- [204] Ansarin M et al. Transoral robotic surgery vs transoral laser microsurgery for resection of supraglottic cancer: a pilot surgery. Int J Med Robot 2014; 10: 107–112
- [205] De Virgilio A et al. How to optimize laryngeal and hypopharyngeal exposure in transoral robotic surgery. Auris Nasus Larynx 2013; 40: 312–319
- [206] Harris AT et al. Transoral laser surgery for laryngeal carcinoma: has Steiner achieved a genuine paradigm shift in oncological surgery? Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2018; 100: 2–5
- [207] Kayhan FT, Koc AK, Erdim I. Oncological outcomes of early glottic carcinoma treated with transoral robotic surgery. Auris Nasus Larynx 2019; 46: 285–293
- [208] Takes RP et al. Current trends in initial management of hypopharyngeal cancer: the declining use of open surgery. Head Neck 2012; 34: 270–281
- [209] De Virgilio A et al. The Emerging Role of Robotic Surgery among Minimally Invasive Surgical Approaches in the Treatment of Hypopharyngeal Carcinoma: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Clin Med 2019; 8:

- [210] Weiss BG et al. Transoral laser microsurgery for treatment for hypopharyngeal cancer in 211 patients. Head Neck 2017; 39: 1631–1638
- [211] Kuo CL, Lee TL, Chu PY. Conservation surgery for hypopharyngeal cancer: changing paradigm from open to endoscopic. Acta Otolaryngol 2013; 133: 1096–1103
- [212] Wang CC et al. Transoral robotic surgery for early T classification hypopharyngeal cancer. Head Neck 2016; 38: 857–862
- [213] Mazerolle P et al. Oncological and functional outcomes of trans-oral robotic surgery for pyriform sinus carcinoma: A French GETTEC group study. Oral Oncol 2018; 86: 165–170
- [214] Rudert HH, Hoft S. Transoral carbon-dioxide laser resection of hypopharyngeal carcinoma. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2003; 260: 198–206
- [215] Vilaseca I et al. CO2 laser surgery: a larynx preservation alternative for selected hypopharyngeal carcinomas. Head Neck 2004; 26: 953–959
- [216] Suarez C et al. Laser surgery for early to moderately advanced glottic, supraglottic, and hypopharyngeal cancers. Head Neck 2012; 34: 1028–1035
- [217] Chan JY et al. Transoral robotic surgery of the parapharyngeal space: a case series and systematic review. Head Neck 2015; 37: 293–298
- [218] Douglas JE, Wen CZ, Rassekh CH. Robotic Management of Salivary Glands. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2020; 53: 1051–1064
- [219] De Virgilio A et al. Trans-oral robotic surgery in the management of parapharyngeal space tumors: A systematic review. Oral Oncol 2020; 103: 104581
- [220] Sukato DC et al. Robotic versus conventional neck dissection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Laryngoscope 2019; 129: 1587– 1596
- [221] Kim WS et al. Learning curve for robot-assisted neck dissection in head and neck cancer: a 3-year prospective case study and analysis. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2014; 140: 1191–1197

- [222] Godse NR, Zhu TS, Duvvuri U. Robotic Neck Dissection. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2020; 53: 1041–1049
- [223] Miccoli P et al. Minimally invasive video-assisted thyroidectomy: multiinstitutional experience. World J Surg 2002; 26: 972–975
- [224] Holsinger FC, Chung WY. Robotic thyroidectomy. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2014; 47: 373–378
- [225] Kandil E et al. Robotic Thyroidectomy Versus Nonrobotic Approaches: A Meta-Analysis Examining Surgical Outcomes. Surg Innov 2016; 23: 317–325
- [226] Russell JO et al. Remote-Access Thyroidectomy: A Multi-Institutional North American Experience with Transaxillary, Robotic Facelift, and Transoral Endoscopic Vestibular Approaches. J Am Coll Surg 2019; 228: 516–522
- [227] Singh RP et al. Robot-assisted excision of the submandibular gland by a postauricular facelift approach: comparison with the conventional transcervical approach. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2017; 55: 1030– 1034
- [228] Lee HS et al. Robot-assisted versus endoscopic submandibular gland resection via retroauricular approach: a prospective nonrandomized study. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2014; 52: 179–184
- [229] Murbe D et al. Tremor in otosurgery: influence of physical strain on hand steadiness. Otol Neurotol 2001; 22: 672–677
- [230] Torres R et al. Atraumatic Insertion of a Cochlear Implant Pre-Curved Electrode Array by a Robot-Automated Alignment with the Coiling Direction of the Scala Tympani. Audiol Neurootol 2021; 1–8
- [231] Jia H et al. Robot-Assisted Electrode Array Insertion Becomes Available in Pediatric Cochlear Implant Recipients: First Report and an Intra-Individual Study. Front Surg 2021; 8: 695728
- [232] Caversaccio M et al. Robotic cochlear implantation: surgical procedure and first clinical experience. Acta Otolaryngol 2017; 137: 447–454